

Universiteit Utrecht

Faculteit Bètawetenschappen

Conformal quantum mechanics in holography and Hodge theory

MASTER THESIS

Arno Hoefnagels

Theoretical Physics

Supervisors:

Dr. Thomas GRIMM Utrecht University, Institute for Theoretical Physics

Dr. Umut Gürsoy Utrecht University, Institute for Theoretical Physics

July 2, 2021

Abstract

 AdS_2/CFT_1 is a particularly interesting example of holography since it appears naturally as the near-horizon limit of extremal black holes. However it is also quite poorly understood. In this thesis aspects of a conformal quantum mechanics model are studied, using an infinite-dimensional representation which provides a natural candidate for the CFT_1 side of the correspondence. A similar model using a finite-dimensional representation, which has possible applications in Hodge theory, is also constructed. After reviewing some basic aspects of AdS/CFT and AdS_2/CFT_1 specifically, the conformal quantum mechanics model is introduced. This model captures some of the aspects of conformal field theories and forms a discrete series representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$. We then propose a completeness relation inspired by the shadow transform in conformal field theories, which provides a method with which all higher correlation functions can be expressed as integrals. Afterwards we propose an interpretation of the conformal quantum mechanics as the boundary model of quantum mechanics on the Poincaré upper half plane, which is the canonical way the discrete series representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ is realized. Finally we propose a similar construction for a finite dimensional representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ which has possible applications in Hodge theory. For this representation we also calculate correlation functions and also use the shadow transform again to define a completeness relation. Finally we define an integral transformation in order to calculate this shadow transform explicitly.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Dr. Thomas Grimm for his excellent supervision and for providing me with such an interesting subject. Secondly, I would like to thank Jeroen Monnee for his guidance during this thesis and the many interesting discussions, as well as answering the many questions I had and often providing helpful feedback. Furthermore, I would like to thank Oscar Eastman and Björn van Zwol for providing feedback for both my thesis itself and my presentation. Finally, I would like to thank Chinook Rijk for supporting me throughout my entire thesis.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction				
2	An overview of anti-de Sitter/conformal field theory duality 2.1 Conformal field theories					
	2.1 2.2	The conformal group				
		2.2.1 Representations of the conformal group				
	2.3	Anti-de Sitter space				
	0.4	2.3.1 Field theories on a fixed AdS background				
	2.4	The AdS/CFT duality				
3	Lowest dimensional AdS/CFT					
	3.1	AdS from extremal black holes				
	3.2	Backreaction and absence of finite matter excitations				
		3.2.1 Near-AdS geometries and Schwarzian actions				
	3.3	Motivating conformal quantum mechanics				
4	Conformal quantum mechanics					
	4.1	Representations of the 1-dimensional conformal group				
	4.2	Continuous representations				
		4.2.1 Two and three-point correlation functions				
		4.2.2 Completeness relations and the shadow operator				
		4.2.3 Higher order correlators				
	4.3	The discrete series representation on the Poincaré half-plane				
5	Fin	Finite dimensional representations in Hodge theory				
	5.1	The finite dimensional representation				
	5.2	Continuous representations				
		5.2.1 Correlation functions				
	5.3	Shadow operator				
		5.3.1 An aside: wave function mechanics				
	5.4	Integral transformations and analytical continuation in Mellin space				
		5.4.1 The general procedure and a useful integral				
		5.4.2 An important special case, the integral transform of a monomial				
		5.4.3 Applying the transformation				
6	Cor	clusion and outlook				
Re	e fere	nces				

1 Introduction

Over the last decades the holographic principle has received much attention. Originally proposed by 't Hooft [1] and partially inspired by entropy calculations of black holes [2], it conjectures that quantum gravity in d+1 dimensions is equivalent to an ordinary quantum (field) theory in d dimensions. Since quantum gravity remains one of the biggest unsolved problems in theoretical physics, the possibility that quantum gravity theories can be rewritten in terms of relatively well-understood quantum field theories is quite alluring.¹ In 1997, Maldacena proposed that examples of holography could be found by considering superstring theory on asymptotic anti-de Sitter (AdS) space in d+1 dimensions and conformal field theories (CFTs) in d dimensions [3]. String theory very naturally incorporates gravity and therefore this duality provides strong hints towards some sort of holography. There are some caveats though. One of the strengths of AdS/CFT duality is that the strong coupling regime on one side corresponds to the weak coupling regime on the other. However, this also means that it is quite hard to prove the duality since strong coupling regimes are often quite difficult to work with. Furthermore, the AdS/CFT duality uses the fact that AdS has a conformal time-like boundary quite explicitly. Therefore it is somewhat unclear how the results generalize to different space-times, especially to de Sitter space-time which describes our universe, although there has been substantial work in this area [4-6]. Despite this studying the AdS/CFT duality has led to many insights in aspects of quantum gravity, such as the Hawking information paradox [7, 8] and led to an improvement of our understanding of quantum gravity in general. Furthermore it has found applications in studying quantum chromodynamics [9] and condensed matter systems [10]. Thus it seems like AdS/CFT has much more insights to give us and studying will lead to many more interesting results.

In this thesis we will mostly focus on aspects of the lowest dimensional version of AdS/CFT, namely AdS_2/CFT_1 where this notation means that the AdS theory is two-dimensional while the CFT is one-dimensional. Contrary to what one might expect, here lower dimensions do not result in a simpler theory or a better understood one. Many results that hold in higher dimensions do not immediately generalize and there are quite a few particularities [11] as we will also see later on. This is part of what makes AdS_2/CFT_1 so interesting since a better understanding here could lead to some fundamental insights into AdS/CFT in general. Especially since one would naively expect it AdS_2/CFT_1 to be the simplest. Furthermore, since (near) extremal black holes have been observed [12] and the AdS2 geometry naturally appears when studying these near their horizons [13, 14], this provides an exciting connection between AdS/CFT and physical experiments.

With these motivations in mind we turn towards possible models for AdS_2/CFT_1 . Since the Einstein-Hilbert action is non-dynamical in two dimensions, it is necessary to modify it in order to obtain insights into quantum gravity. A common method is to introduce a scalar field called a dilaton which couples to the metric and possibly to matter. These kind of fields naturally appear when performing Kaluza-Klein compactifications in string theory [15, 16] as well as when taking the near boundary limits of extremal black holes discussed before

 $^{^1\}mathrm{We}$ stress the word relative here.

1 INTRODUCTION

[17], something we will discuss in more detail in section 3.1. One particularly interesting model of dilaton gravity is Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity [18, 19], mainly because it is quite simple but has AdS₂ as well as several black hole solutions. Some progress has been made in formulating dual theories with the most promising candidates being the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model [20] and conformal quantum mechanics [21, 22]. In this thesis we will mostly focus on this conformal quantum mechanics model, first introduced by de Alfaro, Fubini and Ferlan (dAFF) [23]. This model is quite interesting since it can be obtained as the boundary theory for the Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity described above [24], but also since it captures most of the properties of conformal field theories in a quantum mechanics setting.

There is also a different reason to study the dAFF model coming from string theory, or more explicitly the geometry of compactifactions. Famously string theory requires certain numbers of dimensions in order to be consistent. Since it is clear that in our day to day life the universe is 4 dimensional this makes one wonder where these other dimensions have gone. The answer provided by string theory is compactification, which intuitively is a means to make the extra dimensions extremely "small" and therefore only accessible at very high energies. One common way of compactifying is Kaluza-Klein compactification [25–27], which starts from string theory on a product manifold

$$\mathcal{M} \times K$$
 (1.1)

where \mathcal{M} and K are chosen such that the combined manifold allows for a consistent string theory. K is called the internal manifold and is compact, which allows us to speak of its size in a well-defined way. A string theory on this product manifold can now be rewritten as an effective string theory living on \mathcal{M} and this effective theory will depend on the geometry and size of K. A natural question is now how the effective theory changes as we vary these. It turns out that much of this information about the size and geometry is captured in the cohomology groups $H^n(K)$ and specifically their Hodge decompositions [28]. Near certain singular geometries these cohomology groups decompose in terms of finite dimensional $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representations [29, 30]. Since the dAFF model is also obtained by considering an $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representation (albeit an infinite dimensional one) this invites us to ask if it is possible to apply similar constructions to these Hodge theoretical representations. This is one of the main goals of this thesis and we will present these constructions in chapter 5. An especially interesting aspect of these variations is that the resulting space of possible variations, the so-called moduli space, appears to have some holographic properties [31, 32]. Therefore a connection between the holographic aspects on the moduli space and those of AdS/CFT might lead to many interesting results on both sides.

In this thesis we will start to investigate this connection, mostly by providing a better understanding of the boundary $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representations. Firstly, we will review the basics of AdS/CFT duality in chapter 2. Thereafter we will take a closer look at the lowest dimensional case of AdS₂/CFT₁ in chapter 3 and discuss where it differs from the higher dimensional analogues. Then, in chapter 4, we will discuss the dAFF model. First reviewing the original construction and afterwards proposing a method of obtaining integral expressions for all *n*point correlation functions, as well as suggest an interesting connection to a certain $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representation on the Poincaré upper half plane. From this we will then move on to the Hodge theoretical setting in chapter 5, where we will first propose a similar model which is applicable in this setting and investigate its properties. To this model we then apply the same tools as used for the dAFF model and will see that it has much of the same structure. Finally we will review our results and provide an outlook in chapter 6.

2 An overview of anti-de Sitter/conformal field theory duality

Since its original conjecture by Maldacena [3] the anti-de Sitter/conformal field theory (AdS/CFT) duality has been a topic of active study. It is one of the important avenues for understanding quantum gravity and the hope is that it can be extended to a more general gauge/gravity duality [33, 34]. Unfortunately, it is at present still merely a conjecture although there are a number of examples where the conjecture passes some highly non-trivial tests, with the most well-known example being type-IIB string theory on $AdS_5 \times \mathbb{S}^5$ dual to $\mathcal{N} = 4$ supersymmetric Yang-Mills [3, 35, 36]. One of the strengths of AdS/CFT is that it cross-links high coupling one one side to low coupling on the other side of the duality, this is however also why it is so difficult to prove since there is not yet a good definition of string theory at high coupling [37, 38]. Nevertheless AdS/CFT and the related gauge/gravity duality has already led to an increased understanding of quantum gravity, with notably new insights into the Hawking information paradox [7, 8].

In this chapter we will give an overview of the AdS/CFT correspondence in the most general setting, that is in *d* dimensions and with little reference to an explicit theory on either the CFT or the AdS side. Furthermore we will mostly focus on the case of a single scalar field for simplicity. If the reader is interested in more detail, one could consult references [33] and [39] although many other good references are available [34, 40, 41]. For discussions that focus more on bulk reconstruction from a boundary CFT, see references [42–45]. Taking this birds-eye view has the advantage of viewing the conjecture in a more isolated sense, separate from any explicit realization or even from string theory. In section 2.1 an overview of conformal field theories is given. We begin by defining the conformal group and afterwards take a look at its different representations. In section 2.3 we will introduce anti-de sitter space and motivate why it is the natural geometrization of the conformal group, afterwards we will introduce a scalar quantum field theory on this space and consider some of its general properties. Finally, in section 2.4 we will discuss the duality in full by explaining the holographic dictionary and performing some explicit tests.

2.1 Conformal field theories

Stated somewhat tautologically, the study of conformal field theories is the study of those field theories that posses a conformal symmetry. These conformal transformations can be defined on any (pseudo)-Riemannian space as those transformations that leave angles locally invariant. In slightly more precise terms, a conformal transformation is a coordinate transformation $x^{\mu} \mapsto x'^{\mu}$ such that the metric transforms as

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) \to g'_{\mu\nu}(x') = \Omega^2(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x)$$
 (2.1)

where $\Omega^2(x)$ is positive and smooth. Therefore, a conformal field theory that is invariant under these transformations has as one of its properties that it has no preferred scale. This

2 AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY DUALITY 5

property is manifest in various theories, for example $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills and many statistical systems at their critical points [46]. The conformal transformations form a Lie group called the conformal group so in order to study conformal field theories it is first necessary to study this group some more.

2.2 The conformal group

In principle any pseudo-Riemannian manifold has a conformal group of transformations satisfying (2.1). However commonly the conformal group in d dimensions is defined as the conformal transformations of (1, d - 1)-dimensional Minkowski space.² Thus it is the group of transformations $x^{\mu} \mapsto x'^{\mu}$ satisfying

$$\left(\frac{\partial x^{\prime \alpha}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\right) \left(\frac{\partial x^{\prime \beta}}{\partial x^{\nu}}\right) \eta_{\alpha,\beta} = \Omega^2(x) \eta_{\mu\nu}(x) \tag{2.2}$$

with η the Minkowski metric in (1, d-1) dimensions and $\Omega^2(x)$ is again positive and smooth. Note that the special case $\Omega^2(x) = 1$ is the subgroup of transformations that leave the metric invariant, thus the conformal group is an extension of the Poincaré group. Equation (2.2) is a differential equation for the new coordinates x'^{μ} that can be solved and which for $d \geq 3$ has the following independent solutions³

$$\begin{array}{ll}
x^{\mu} \mapsto x^{\mu} + a^{\mu} & \text{Translations} \\
x^{\mu} \mapsto \Lambda^{\mu}_{\nu} x^{\nu} & \text{Lorentz transformations} \\
x^{\mu} \mapsto \lambda x^{\mu} & \text{Dilations} \\
x^{\mu} \mapsto \frac{x^{\mu} - b^{\mu} x^{2}}{1 - 2b \cdot x + b^{2} x^{2}} & \text{Special conformal transformations}
\end{array}$$
(2.3)

and thus any conformal transformation in $d \ge 3$ dimensions is given by some combination of these. In $d \le 2$ the conformal group is much larger, either generated by the infinite dimensional Virasoro algebra in the d = 2 case or full re-parametrization for d = 1 [47]. In this thesis however, when talking about the conformal group we will solely refer to transformations of the type (2.3), which can be defined in any dimension.

To study this group it is useful to consider the generators associated to (2.3). To obtain these, one can simply perform the coordinate transformations infinitesimally in order to obtain

$$\begin{array}{ll}
P_{\mu} & \coloneqq -i\partial_{\mu} & \text{Translations} \\
M_{\mu\nu} & \coloneqq 2ix_{[\mu}\partial_{\nu]} & \text{Lorentz transformations} \\
D & \coloneqq -ix^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} & \text{Dilations} \\
K_{\mu} & \coloneqq -i(2x_{\mu}x \cdot \partial - x^{2}\partial_{\mu}) & \text{Special conformal transformations}
\end{array}$$
(2.4)

where the factor of -i is due to convention. These generators then satisfy the following

²Sometimes Euclidian space is used instead.

³For some sources which go into the discussion below in some more detail, see for example references [34, 39, 46, 47].

2 AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY DUALITY

commutation relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} D, P_{\mu} \end{bmatrix} = iP_{\mu} & [D, K_{\mu}] = -iK_{\mu} \\ [P_{\mu}, K_{\nu}] = -2i(M_{\mu\nu} + \eta_{\mu\nu}D) & [M_{\mu\nu}, P_{\sigma}] = -i(\eta_{\mu\sigma}P_{\nu} - \eta_{\eta\sigma}P_{\mu}) \\ [M_{\mu\nu}, K_{\sigma}] = -i(\eta_{\mu\sigma}K_{\nu} - \eta_{\nu\sigma}K_{\mu}) \\ [M_{\mu\nu}, M_{\rho\sigma}] = i(\eta_{\nu\rho}M_{\mu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma}M_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\mu\rho}M_{\nu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma}M_{\mu\rho})$$

$$(2.5)$$

and all other commutations resulting in zero. Note that this algebra is isomorphic to the algebra of SO(2, d) which can be shown by defining

$$\begin{aligned}
 J_{-1,0} &= D & J_{-1,\alpha} &= \frac{1}{2}(P_{\alpha+1} - K_{\alpha+1}) \\
 J_{\alpha\beta} &= M_{\alpha+1,\beta+1} & J_{0,\alpha} &= \frac{1}{2}(P_{\alpha+1} + K_{\alpha+1})
 \end{aligned}$$
(2.6)

where α and β run from 1 to d. These generators then satisfy

$$[J_{\alpha,\beta}, J_{\gamma,\delta}] = i(\eta_{\alpha\beta}^{2,d-1}J_{\gamma\delta} + \eta_{\beta\gamma}^{2,d-1}J_{\alpha\delta} - \eta_{\alpha\gamma}^{2,d-1}J_{\beta\delta} - \eta_{\beta\delta}^{2,d-1}J_{\alpha\gamma})$$
(2.7)

which are the commutation relations of the $\mathfrak{so}(2, d)$ algebra. Here $\eta^{2,d-1}$ is the Minkowski metric in (2, d-1)-dimensions. Note that this means that only the connected part of the conformal group and SO(2, d) are isomorphic. This connection will be important in establishing the AdS/CFT duality. Furthermore when building representations of the conformal group it will be most convenient to build representations of SO(2, d) instead and use that the two are locally isomorphic.

2.2.1 Representations of the conformal group

In this subsection we will briefly discuss how to obtain the unitary irreducible representations of the Lorentzian conformal group SO(2, d).⁴ In 3 + 1 dimension the conformal group was first classified by Mack [48], for the Euclidian conformal group see references [49, 50] or [51] for analytical continuations thereof. Here however we will take a somewhat more heuristic approach by considering the representations of its maximal compact subgroup. For a more indepth look into the structure and representation theory of Lie groups the reader can consult references [52–55]. Here we are briefly going to consider the SO(2, d) group in its fundamental representation in order to study some of its properties, most importantly to find its maximal compact subgroup which we will use to label its representations. Afterwards we will connect this to the generators above.

The fundamental representation of the group SO(2, d) is given by matrices $g \in SL(2 + d, \mathbb{R})$ that satisfy

$$g^T I g = I \tag{2.8}$$

where g^T denotes the transpose of a matrix and I is defined as

$$I = \begin{pmatrix} -I_{2\times2} & 0_{2\times d} \\ 0_{d\times2} & I_{d\times d} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.9)

⁴Although we will only look at the connected component $SO_0(2, d)$, subtleties regarding the disconnected components will be ignored.

AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY $\mathbf{2}$ DUALITY

with $I_{n \times n}$ the identity matrix of size $n \times n$ and $0_{n \times m}$ the zero matrix of size $n \times m$. This then implies that following the same block notation as in the definition of I, an element g can be written as

$$g = \begin{pmatrix} \alpha & \beta \\ \beta^T & \gamma \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.10)

where $\alpha \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ and $\gamma \in SL(d,\mathbb{R})$ are anti-hermitian and β is an $2 \times d$ matrix with real coefficients. The maximal compact subgroup $K = SO(2) \times SO(d) \subset SO(2, d)$ is then given by matrices of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \alpha & 0\\ 0 & \gamma \end{pmatrix} . \tag{2.11}$$

Note that in terms of the infinitesimal generators these are spanned by $J_{-1,0} = D$ and $J_{\alpha\beta} = M_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}$. A unitary irreducible representation of SO(2,d) must restrict to a unitary irreducible representation of $SO(2) \times SO(d)$. We can thus label the representation by $[\Delta, L]$ where Δ labels the SO(2) representation and L the SO(d) representation. Note that L denotes the familiar spin representation. From the commutation relation (2.5) one can see that K_{μ} and P_{μ} act as raising and lowering operators for D. Since we're interested in constructing a quantum field theory, we will consider (tensor) fields ϕ upon which the operators act by commutation. We now assume that there is a lowest weight state ϕ that satisfies

$$[D, \phi(0)] = i\Delta\phi(0) ; \quad [K_{\mu}, \phi(0)] = 0$$
(2.12)

which we will call a primary field. This assumption is consistent with requiring positive energy states [48]. Now it is possible to generate its descendants by successively applying the commutator with P_{μ} , since then for $\phi_1(0) \coloneqq [P_{\mu}, \phi(0)]$ one has that

$$[D, \phi_1(0)] = i(\Delta + 1)\phi_1(0) \tag{2.13}$$

and P_{μ} acts as a raising operator as expected. The action of the operators on $\phi(x)$ can now be obtained by using

$$\phi(x) = e^{ix^{\mu}P_{\mu}}\phi(0)e^{-ix^{\mu}P_{\mu}}$$
(2.14)

which results in the relations

$$\begin{bmatrix} D, \phi_{\alpha}(x) \end{bmatrix} = i(-\Delta + x \cdot \partial)\phi_{\alpha}(x) \begin{bmatrix} P_{\mu}, \phi_{\alpha}(x) \end{bmatrix} = i\partial_{\mu}\phi_{\alpha}(x) \begin{bmatrix} K_{\mu}, \phi_{\alpha}(x) \end{bmatrix} = (i(x^{2}\partial_{\mu} - 2x_{\mu}x \cdot \partial + 2\Delta x_{\mu}) - 2x^{\nu}\Sigma_{\mu\nu})\phi_{\alpha}(x)$$

$$M_{\mu\nu}, \phi_{\alpha}(x) \end{bmatrix} = (2ix_{[\mu}\partial_{\nu]} + \Sigma_{\mu\nu})\phi_{\alpha}(x)$$

$$(2.15)$$

after applying the commutation relations. Here $\Sigma_{\mu\nu}$ is the finite dimensional matrix associated to the representation L. Note that this is in agreement with (2.4). These fields are the main object of interest in conformal field theories.

Having discussed some basic properties of the conformal symmetry group and conformal field theories, we will take a look at anti-de Sitter space and field theories on it.

AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY $\mathbf{2}$ DUALITY

Anti-de Sitter space 2.3

The other side of the AdS/CFT duality is AdS space. In this section we will discuss its definition as well as look at some basic properties. The discussion below is mostly based on references [34], [39] and [56].

From the symmetry group of conformal field theories one is almost immediately led to introduce AdS space. This is because AdS is the unique (up to a radius) maximally symmetric manifold with the SO(2, d) symmetry group, which is similar to the relation between Minkowski space and the Lorentzian group. To see this, note that by definition the SO(2, d)symmetry group is the group of transformations in $\mathbb{R}^{2,d}$ that leaves

$$X_A X^A \coloneqq -(X^{-1})^2 - (X^0)^2 + X_i X^i$$
(2.16)

invariant. From now on upper case Latin indices will denote the index of coordinates in $\mathbb{R}^{2,d}$ while lower case Latin letters will be reserved for the spatial coordinates. These transformations then define a family of SO(2, d) invariant submanifolds $\mathcal{M}_L \subset \mathbb{R}^{2, d}$ which have as their defining equation

$$\mathcal{M}_L \coloneqq \{ X \in \mathbb{R}^{2,d} \mid X_A X^A = L^2 \}$$
(2.17)

and these submanifolds are then precisely AdS_{d+1} space with radius L. Note that thus by construction the symmetry group of AdS_{d+1} is SO(2, d).

While it is sometimes is convenient to work in the above embedding space there are also several other coordinate descriptions of AdS. One particularly useful set of global coordinates can be obtained by defining

$$X_{-1} = L \frac{\sin(t)}{\cos(\rho)} \tag{2.18}$$

$$X_0 = L \frac{\cos(t)}{\cos(\rho)} \tag{2.19}$$

$$X_i = L \tan(\rho)\Omega_i \tag{2.20}$$

with Ω_i satisfying $\sum_{i=1}^{d} (\Omega_i)^2 = 1$. In these coordinates the induced metric on AdS_{d+1} is given by

$$ds^{2} = \frac{L^{2}}{\cos^{2}(\rho)} \left(-dt^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \sin^{2}(\rho)d\Omega^{2} \right)$$
(2.21)

$$\rho \in [0, \frac{\pi}{2}); \quad t \in (-\infty, \infty); \quad \Omega_i \in [-1, 1]$$
(2.22)

where Ω denotes $\sum_{i=1}^{d} \Omega_i$. It should be noted that technically this is the universal cover of the space \mathcal{M}_L defined above, although this subtlety will not matter for us.

Finally, a different set of useful coordinates is given by the Poincaré coordinates. These are

defined by

$$X_{-1} = \frac{z}{2} \left(1 + \frac{L^2 + \mathbf{x}^2 - t^2}{z^2} \right)$$
(2.23)

$$X_0 = L\frac{t}{z} \tag{2.24}$$

$$X_i = L\frac{x_i}{z} \tag{2.25}$$

$$X_d = \frac{z}{2} \left(1 - \frac{L^2 - \mathbf{x}^2 + t^2}{z^2} \right)$$
(2.26)

where x denotes a vector of d-1 spacial coordinates and $1 \le i \le d-1$. In these the metric takes the following form

$$ds^{2} = L^{2} \frac{dz^{2} - dt^{2} + d\mathbf{x}^{2}}{z^{2}}$$
(2.27)

$$z \in (0, \infty) ; \quad t, \ x_i \in (-\infty, \infty)$$

$$(2.28)$$

where $d\mathbf{x}^2 \coloneqq \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} (dx^i)^2$. Because of its simplistic form these are the ones mostly used in actual calculations although one important limitation is that these don't cover the entire AdS space, only the Poincaré patch.

With these coordinates it is now possible to give explicit expressions for the AdS Killing vectors. Since by construction AdS inherits the SO(2, d) symmetry group, its killing vectors are of the form

$$J_{(A,B)} = X_A \partial_B - X_B \partial_A \tag{2.29}$$

in the $\mathbb{R}^{2,d}$ coordinates used before. Note that here the subscript (A, B) is not an index but a label. These Killing vectors can be written in AdS coordinates by defining

$$(k_{(A,B)})_{\mu} := \frac{\partial X^C}{\partial x^{\mu}} (J_{(A,B)})_C$$
(2.30)

where x^{μ} denote the AdS coordinates. For the global coordinates defined in equation (2.18) these take the form

$$k_{(-1,0)} = \partial_t$$

$$k_{(-1,0)} = \cos(\rho)\sin(t)\Omega_i\partial_\rho + \sin(\rho)\cos(t)\Omega_i\partial_t - \frac{\sin(t)}{\sin(\rho)}\partial_{\Omega_i}$$

$$k_{(0,i)} = -\cos(\rho)\cos(t)\Omega_i\partial_\rho + \sin(\rho)\sin(t)\Omega_i\partial_t + \frac{\cos(t)}{\sin(\rho)}\partial_{\Omega_i}$$

$$k_{(i,j)} = \Omega_i\partial_{\Omega_j} - \Omega_j\partial_{\Omega_i}$$

$$(2.31)$$

where again $1 \leq i \leq d$.

Another important property of AdS space is that it has a conformal time-like boundary, where a conformal boundary is defined as the boundary of the conformally compactified space. To see this, consider the metric of AdS_{d+1} in global coordinates, given by equation (2.21). Note that this has a singularity at $\rho = \frac{\pi}{2}$. However, it is possible to define a new metric as

$$d\tilde{s}^2 \coloneqq f(\rho, t, \mathbf{x}) ds^2 \tag{2.32}$$

2 AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY DUALITY 10

where f is any smooth positive definite function that has a simple zero at $\rho = \frac{\pi}{2}$. The metric $d\tilde{s}^2$ defines a new manifold which is the conformal compactification of AdS_{d+1} . Note that f is non-unique and therefore it is possible to perform many different compactifications.⁵ Choosing

$$f(\rho, t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\cos^2(\rho)}{L^2}$$
(2.33)

the new metric is given by

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = -dt^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \sin^{2}(\rho)d\Omega^{2}. \qquad (2.34)$$

This metric now is actually defined on the boundary and thus it is possible to take the limit $\rho \to \frac{\pi}{2}$ and consider the resulting space. This has a metric given by

$$d\tilde{s}^{2}\big|_{\rho=\frac{\pi}{2}} = -dt^{2} + d\Omega^{2}$$
(2.35)

and thus using this conformal compactification the boundary is given by $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$. Note that different choices of f would have given different boundary spaces.

2.3.1 Field theories on a fixed AdS background

We are now ready to study field theories on a fixed AdS background. For simplicity we will just consider a single scalar field that is not coupled to gravity. This will allow us to perform explicit calculations and even obtain an exact solution for the free field, with which we can then study its behaviour. Although this is only the simplest example, some key aspects such as its boundary behaviour also generalize to other fields [3, 35]. Most of the following analysis will be classical as we will only give an overview of the simplest arguments for AdS/CFT duality.

The scalar field on AdS is described by the action

$$S[\phi] = \int_{AdS_{d+1}} d^{d+1}x \,\sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\phi) + \frac{m^2}{2}\phi^2 + V(\phi)\right)$$
(2.36)

where g is the metric of AdS and V is a potential. This action implies that the classical equation of motion of ϕ is given by

$$(\Box - m^2)\phi = \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi}(\phi) \tag{2.37}$$

with \Box the Laplace-Belatrami operator of AdS space. Note that since AdS space has a time-like conformal boundary the boundary conditions need to be specified in order for the differential problem to be well-defined. For a free field of mass m (e.g $V(\phi) = 0$) this equation of motion reduces to

$$(\Box - m^2)\phi = 0 \tag{2.38}$$

⁵Note that the above procedure is equivalent to a Weyl rescaling of the metric, see [35] for a nice description of this procedure in Euclidian AdS.

which can be written explicitly in Poincaré coordinates (2.27) as

$$\left(z^2\partial_z^2 - (d-1)z\partial_z + z^2(-\partial_t^2 + \partial_i\partial^i) - m^2L^2\right)\phi = 0$$
(2.39)

where the sum over i denotes a sum over spatial coordinates. Making the ansatz

$$\phi(z,t,\mathbf{x}) = \psi(z)e^{itp_0 + ix^i p_i} \tag{2.40}$$

the above differential can be rewritten as a modified Bessels equation with ψ having solutions of the form

$$\psi(z,t,x)_p = c_1 z^{d/2} K_{\Delta-d/2}(|p|z) + c_2 z^{d/2} I_{\Delta-d/2}(|p|z)$$
(2.41)

where K and I are modified Bessel functions and

$$\Delta \coloneqq \frac{d}{2} + \sqrt{\frac{d^2}{4} + m^2 L^2} \tag{2.42}$$

will play an important role in connecting to the CFT side. In the interior I diverges exponentially so to obtain normalizable solutions c_2 must be set to zero. Since near the boundary $z \to 0$ the functions K scales as

$$\lim_{z \to 0} z^{d/2} K_{\Delta - d/2}(|p|z) \sim z^{d-\Delta} f(p)$$
(2.43)

 ϕ also scales as $z^{d-\Delta}$ near the boundary. Note that this diverges and thus some regularization will be necessary, this is usually done by defining a cutoff ϵ instead of taking the limit $z \to 0$. This process is called holographic renormalization and is often necessary when calculating correlation functions [57].

When one introduces interactions it is no longer possible to obtain an exact solution, however Witten introduced a general procedure for calculating correlation functions which can still be applied [35]. This procedure involves first solving the differential equation for a free field subject to the boundary conditions

$$\lim_{z \to 0} z^{\Delta - d} \phi(z, t, \mathbf{x}) = \phi_0(t, \mathbf{x})$$
(2.44)

where ϕ_0 is some to be specified function, and then iteratively solving for the full solution. In order to obtain the free solution in terms of the boundary conditions, one first defines a bulk-to-bulk propagator $G(z, t, \mathbf{x})$ satisfying

$$(\Box - m^2)G(z, t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{\delta(z)\delta(t)\delta^{d-1}(\mathbf{x})}{\sqrt{-g}}$$
(2.45)

which is just the conventional Green's function. With this it is possible to define a bulk-toboundary propagator K as⁶

$$K(z,t,x) \coloneqq \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{2\Delta - d}{w^{\Delta}} G(z - w, t, x)$$
(2.46)

⁶Note that this K is not the modified Bessel function used above, although this notation may be somewhat confusing we have used it here in order to be consistent with the notation from the literature. From here on out, K will always mean the bulk-to-boundary propagator unless stated otherwise.

chosen such that

$$\lim_{z \to 0} z^{\Delta - d} K(z, t, x) = \delta(t) \delta^{d - 1}(\mathbf{x})$$
(2.47)

which can be checked by explicitly calculating G and K, as has been done in reference [33]. An interesting property of K is that the free field solution $\tilde{\phi}$ to

$$(\Box - m^2)\widetilde{\phi}(z, t, \mathbf{x}) = 0 \tag{2.48}$$

subject to

$$\lim_{z \to 0} z^{\Delta - d} \, \widetilde{\phi}(z, t, \mathbf{x}) = \phi_0(t, \mathbf{x}) \tag{2.49}$$

can be written as

$$\widetilde{\phi}(z,t,\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\partial AdS} dt' d^{d-1}\mathbf{x}' \ K(z,t-t',\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')\phi_0(t',\mathbf{x}')$$
(2.50)

resulting in the free solution in terms of the boundary conditions. With this free solution it is now possible to expand ϕ iteratively as

$$\phi(z,t,x) = \widetilde{\phi}(z,t,\mathbf{x}) + c_1 \int_{AdS} d^{d+1}x' \ G(z-z',t-t',\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{x}')\widetilde{\phi}(z',t',\mathbf{x}') + \cdots$$
(2.51)

where the expansion continues with propagators acting on the free solution and the constants c_i are fixed by the potential V [38]. Inserting this expansion in to the action (2.36) gives an on-shell action which now depends on the boundary condition ϕ_0 instead of ϕ . Explicit expressions for K and G can be found [33, 38] which when inserted in the on-shell action and integrating by parts results in

$$S_{on-shell}[\phi_0] = \int_{\partial AdS} \int_{\partial AdS} dt d^{d-1} \mathbf{x} dt' d^{d-1} \mathbf{x}' \ \frac{\phi_0(t, \mathbf{x})\phi_0(t', \mathbf{x}')}{|t - t'|^{2\Delta} |\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}'|^{2\Delta}} + S_{interaction}[\phi_0] \ . \tag{2.52}$$

Note that the first term is identical to the generating functional $W_{CFT}[\phi_0]$ of a conformal field theory operator with conformal dimension Δ and source ϕ_0 . This suggests that it might be possible to reinterpret the original field theory described by (2.36) also as a conformal field theory living on the boundary of AdS space, which leads us naturally to conjecture the AdS/CFT duality.

2.4 The AdS/CFT duality

The on-shell expansion (2.52) leads us to conjecture a connection between field theories on AdS space and conformal field theories living on its boundary. In its strongest form it posits a connection between the AdS partition functional $Z_{AdS}[\phi_0]$ where the ϕ_0 act as the boundary conditions of the theory and a CFT partition function $Z_{CFT}[\phi_0]$ where the ϕ_0 act as sources.⁷

⁷There is also the so-called extrapolate dictionary, which states that in a different limit actually the bulk theory field is actually equal to the CFT operator itself [34, 44] although they are conjectured to be equivalent for AdS [58].

2 AN OVERVIEW OF ANTI-DE SITTER/CONFORMAL FIELD THEORY DUALITY 13

Mathematically, the AdS/CFT duality can thus be summed up in the equation⁸

$$Z_{CFT}[\phi_0] = Z_{AdS}[\phi]\Big|_{\lim_{z \to 0} z^{\Delta - d} \phi = \phi_0}$$

$$(2.53)$$

where the ϕ fields now include gravity and other non-scalar fields. The weaker forms of this conjecture state that this equality only holds in certain limits [33]. While the scalar field toy-model used above is interesting, the full extent of the AdS/CFT conjecture only comes in to play when considering different fields and especially gauge fields such as gravity. Equation (2.53) then implies a mapping where the boundary limit bulk gauge fields act as sources for conserved currents in the CFT side [35, 36]. An important special case for this is the mapping between the energy-momentum tensor on the CFT side and the metric on AdS, since any CFT has an energy-momentum tensor [47] this means that gravity appears on the AdS side quite naturally. All these combined lead to the so-called AdS/CFT dictionary which can be summed up as [59]

\mathbf{AdS}		\mathbf{CFT}	
Fields	\leftrightarrow	Operators	
Gauge fields	\leftrightarrow	Conserved currents	
Boundary values of fields	\leftrightarrow	Sources for operators	
Local isometries	\leftrightarrow	Global isometries	

Besides this general idea we can quickly check some very basic requirements for this duality. Two somewhat trivial things to mention briefly are that as we saw in subsection 2.3 that AdS_{d+1} has an $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ boundary. Since $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ is conformally equivalent to $\mathbb{R}^{d-1,1}$ it at least seems possible that the boundary theory is described by a conformal field theory on this space. Furthermore taking the boundary limits of the Killing vectors given in equation (2.31) results in the SO(2, d) Killing vectors defined in equation (2.6), signifying that the Killing vectors on AdS also get mapped to the conformal Killing vectors on the CFT side. There are quite a number of other checks on the AdS/CFT duality, such as calculations of correlation functions [60, 61] and the holographic anomaly [62, 63]. For brevity we will not go into those here but for an overview see references [38] and [33].

With this general overview of AdS/CFT finished we will now consider the lowest dimensional AdS_2/CFT_1 setting and as we will see it will turn out that even though initially this might seem like the simplest model it has quite a few peculiarities.

⁸This equation is also sometimes called the GKPW rule, in reference to Gubser, Klebanov, Polyakov [36] and Witten [35].

3 Lowest dimensional AdS/CFT

The lowest dimensional version of the Ads/CFT duality is quite interesting for a number of reasons. First of all it appears quite naturally when considering extremal black holes in higher dimensions, which makes it one of the few instances where the AdS/CFT duality might immediately provide testable predictions. Furthermore there are some very interesting differences in AdS_2/CFT_1 in comparison to the higher dimensions. For example, Lorentzian AdS_2 actually has two boundaries instead of one as is shown in figure 1. This makes it unclear how the ordinary AdS/CFT dictionary of relating bulk fields and boundary operators through simply taking the boundary limit should be applied, since now one has the choice of different limits to take. Furthermore calculating correlators by varying with respect to the boundary conditions as in equation (2.53) also becomes a bit unclear. It has been posited that therefore there are now two CFTs, one for each boundary, which have been used to calculate black hole entropies. [64]. Besides the double boundary there is also the fact that in 0+1 dimension a quantum field theory reduces to ordinary quantum mechanics, thus one can not apply the general CFT formalisms without care. This might also turn out to be an advantage however, since usually quantum mechanical models are much easier to study than quantum field theories. A third difference between the higher dimensional analogues is that in two dimensions, Einstein-Hilbert gravity is non-dynamical. Therefore some modification is necessary in order to have interesting gravitational dynamics. Usually this is done by adding a dilaton field to the theory since as we will see these appear very naturally from higherdimensional compactification. Finally, there is the fact that $AdS_2 \times K$ with K compact admits no finite energy excitations [17, 65]. Therefore one has to settle for just studying the ground state, or one has to modify the space. We will discuss this more in section 3.2. In the end, all these differences are part of what makes AdS_2/CFT_1 so interesting, since overcoming them will surely lead to a better understanding of the AdS_2/CFT_1 duality in general.



Figure 1: (a) conformally compacted Euclidean AdS_2 , originally from [66]. Note that the polygons are of equal volume. (b) conformally compactified Lorentzian AdS_2 , note the two time-like boundaries in dark grey extending to $\pm \infty$.

In this chapter we will start by motivating the study of AdS_2 with dilaton gravity by considering the spherically reduced Reissner-Nordström black hole in section 3.1, afterwards in section 3.2 we will show why $AdS_2 \times K$ admits no finite energy excitations for compact K. Finally in section 3.3 we will discuss motivate the particular conformal quantum mechanical model that we will study in the next chapter.

3.1 AdS from extremal black holes

One particular reason why AdS_2 is interesting it that it can be obtained as part of the nearhorizon geometry of extremal black holes. In fact, this has been partially proven for general extremal black holes by Figueras et al. [14] and Kunduri et al. [13] using the SO(2,1)symmetry near the boundary. As an example, here we will briefly show how the AdS_2 geometry arises from a Reisner-Nordström black hole. This discussion will mostly follow references [67] and [17].

Consider the Reissner Nordström metric in four dimensions given by

$$ds^{2} = -\frac{(r-r^{+})(r-r^{-})}{r^{2}}dt^{2} + \frac{r^{2}}{(r-r^{+})(r-r^{-})}dr^{2} + r^{2}d\Omega^{2}$$
(3.1)

$$r_{\pm} = QL_p + EL_p^2 \pm \sqrt{2QEL_p^3 + E^2L_p^4}$$
(3.2)

$$E = M - \frac{Q}{L_p} \tag{3.3}$$

here $d\Omega^2$ denotes the S^2 metric, Q is the charge, E is the excitation energy above extremality and L_p is the Planck length. For an extremal black hole E = 0, simplifying the expression for r_{\pm} to

$$r_{+} = r_{-} = QL_{p} . (3.4)$$

Taking the near-horizon limit means considering a coordinate near $r = r_{\pm}$ and taking the length scale to zero. Since L_p is the only remaining variable with dimension length, a natural choice is

$$z = \frac{Q^2 L_p^2}{r - r_+} \tag{3.5}$$

and taking the limit $L_p \to 0$ while keeping z and Q constant. After performing this change of coordinates and taking these limits the new metric becomes

$$d\tilde{s}^{2} = Q^{2}L_{p}^{2}\left(\frac{dz^{2} - dt^{2}}{z^{2}} + d\Omega^{2}\right)$$
(3.6)

which, since the first part is the metric of AdS_2 and the second part that of S^2 , describes the product space $AdS_2 \times S^2$. For different extremal black holes this procedure would result in the product space $AdS_2 \times K$ where K is some compact manifold. It is also interesting to consider the near-extremal limits, this amounts to taking L_p to zero while simultaneously taking limits of combinations of E, Q and L_p or keeping them constant. This has been done by Maldacena, Michelson and Strominger [17] and one important result found there was that in the simplest limits the finite energy excitations on $AdS_2 \times S^2$ were supressed, something that we will discuss more in section 3.2.

Before we look at this in more detail we will take a look at the resulting theory of gravity in AdS_2 induced from extremal black holes, continuing with the Reisner-Nordström black hole

example. As we will see this leads naturally to the introduction of a dilaton field. The metric (3.1) is a solution of the Einstein-Maxwell action

$$S = \frac{1}{L_p^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(R_g - \frac{L_p^2}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} \right)$$
(3.7)

where g is the metric, R_g its curvature scalar and F the electro-magnetic field strength. Now consider the spherically symmetric anszats

$$ds^{2} = h_{ab}(r,t)dx^{a}dx^{b} + \Phi^{2}(r,t)d\mathbf{\Omega}^{2}$$

$$F = Q\sin\phi \ d\phi \wedge d\theta$$
(3.8)

where $a, b \in \{t, r\}$ and ϕ , θ are the angular coordinates. Inserting this in the action above and integrating with respect to the angular coordinates applying Stokes theorem leads to⁹

$$S = \frac{4\pi}{L_p^2} \int dt dr \,\sqrt{-h} \left[\Phi^2 R_h + 2(\nabla \Phi)^2 + 2 - \frac{L_p^2 Q^2}{2\Phi^2} \right]$$
(3.9)

where R_h is the curvature scalar of h and ∇ is the covariant derivative with respect to h. This action is part of a family of 1 + 1 dimensional models initially studied by Almheiri and Polchinski [65] with actions of the form

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int dr dt \,\sqrt{-h} \bigg[\Phi^2 R_h + \lambda (\nabla \Phi)^2 - U(\Phi) \bigg]$$
(3.10)

with $U(\Phi)$ some potential and G of dimension length squared. Many different theories give rise to an action of the form (3.10), for example spherically reduced gravity models such as above or certain string theories [69, 70]. Furthermore, some models of this form are exactly solvable even with matter making it possible to analyse them more in-depth [71].

With the motivation for studying these kind of models given, we will now discuss some of their properties which make AdS_2/CFT_1 especially difficult and interesting. Starting with the problem of finite energy excitations.

3.2 Backreaction and absence of finite matter excitations

Now that we have a general dilaton gravity action in two dimension we can start to couple it with matter. As we will see, requiring that the background-metric asymptotes to $AdS_2 \times K$ for K a compact manifold implies that there are no finite energy matter excitations [17, 65]. In extremal black holes such as the one discussed above, this effect manifests by the thermodynamic description breaking down at extremality [72, 73]. Note that for non-compact K, finite matter excitations are allowed [74]. The general argument starts by coupling the action (3.10) to matter as

$$S = \int dr dt \,\sqrt{-h} \bigg[\Phi^2 R_h + \lambda (\nabla \Phi)^2 - U(\Phi) \bigg] + S_{matter}$$
(3.11)

⁹See references [67] and [68] for more detail.

where the exact form of S_{matter} will not be important. In two dimensions, any Lorentzian metric can be rewritten as

$$ds^2 = -e^{2\omega(u,v)}dudv \tag{3.12}$$

by applying some coordinate transformation. The equation of motion for the metric component h^{uu} then implies that

$$-e^{2\omega}\partial_u(e^{-2\omega}\partial_u\Phi^2) = T_{uu} \tag{3.13}$$

where T is the energy momentum tensor obtained by varying S_{matter} with respect to h. We impose that at the boundary the metric asymptotes to the AdS₂ metric, thus in accordance to AdS₂ we should find two boundaries which we will take to be at u = v and $u = v + \pi$. Now integrating with the measure $e^{-2\omega} du$ along v = 0 results in the equation

$$e^{2\omega}\partial_u \Phi^2 \big|_{u=0} - e^{2\omega}\partial_u \Phi^2 \big|_{u=\pi} = \int_0^\pi du \ e^{-2\omega} T_{++} \ . \tag{3.14}$$

Importantly, the right hand side of this equation is greater than zero when matter is present. However imposing that the metric asymptotes to AdS_2 at the boundaries implies that $e^{2\omega}$ should scale as

$$\lim_{u \to v} e^{2\omega} \sim \frac{1}{(u-v)^2} \tag{3.15}$$

$$\lim_{u \to v+\pi} e^{2\omega} \sim \frac{1}{(u-v-\pi)^2}$$
(3.16)

and thus $e^{-2\omega}$ vanishes at the boundaries. But since the right hand side of equation (3.14) is non-zero we see that the $\partial_u \Phi^2$ term must diverge quadratically near at least one of the boundaries. This might not seem like an important problem since in higher dimensional AdS fields can also have divergences at the boundary,¹⁰ however one must remember that in this context Φ^2 appears from an ansatz similar to equation (3.8). Thus Φ^2 should be interpreted as the volume of the compact space K, but since Φ^2 diverges this volume is infinite and K can no longer be compact. Therefore $AdS_2 \times K$ admits no finite energy excitations. A solution is available however by considering near-AdS (nAdS) geometries [75, 76] which we will briefly discuss now.

3.2.1 Near-AdS geometries and Schwarzian actions

Armed with the knowledge that some modification of the system above is necessary here we will briefly consider one possible solution proposed by Almheiri and Polchinski [65] which was developed more in references [75] and [76]. This solution involves a boundary parametrization resulting in a Schwarzian boundary action, which implies a possible relation between Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity and the Sachdev–Ye–Kitaev model [67]. The starting point is to consider small deformations

$$\Phi^2 = \phi_0 + \phi \tag{3.17}$$

¹⁰See for example equation (2.43).

of the dilaton around a constant value ϕ_0 that satisfies the equations motion. By expanding the action (3.10) around ϕ_0 and ignoring higher order and topological terms this action can be rewritten as [67, 75]

$$S = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \left[\int dr dt \,\sqrt{-h}\phi(R_h + 2) + 2 \int dt \,\phi_b K \right] \tag{3.18}$$

where the boundary integral is added in order to make the variational problem well-defined. Here K is the extrinsic curvature of the boundary and ϕ_b is the boundary limit of ϕ . Note that this action describes the well-known Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity [18, 19] and that the equation of motion for ϕ now assures that h has constant negative curvature. One important difference with before is that we will know work in Euclidean coordinates and consequentially that there is only one boundary. The equations of motion for h and ϕ can be solved resulting in

$$ds^2 = \frac{dr^2 + dt^2}{z^2}$$
(3.19)

$$\phi = \frac{a + bt + c(t^2 + r^2)}{r} \tag{3.20}$$

where a, b and c are integration constants. Since both the metric and ϕ diverge at the boundary $r \to 0$, we impose a cut-off by defining a boundary curve parametrized by a coordinate τ .¹¹ Furthermore, we impose that at along this cut-off, h and ϕ behave as

$$h|_{boundary} = \frac{1}{\epsilon^2} \tag{3.21}$$

$$\phi_b = \frac{\phi_\tau(\tau)}{\epsilon} \tag{3.22}$$

analogous to equation (3.19). This results in a set of equations for $t(\tau)$ and $r(\tau)$ along the path which can be solved resulting in

$$\epsilon \partial_{\tau} t(\tau) = z(\tau) \tag{3.23}$$

$$\frac{a+bt(\tau)+c(t(\tau))^2}{\partial_\tau t(\tau)} = \phi_\tau(\tau)$$
(3.24)

where it should be noted that ϕ_{τ} acts as the boundary condition imposed on ϕ . The second equation is the equation of motion for a boundary action given by

$$I = \frac{-1}{8\pi G} \int d\tau \phi_{\tau}(\tau) Sch(t,\tau)$$
(3.25)

where $Sch(t,\tau)$ is the Schwarzian defined as

$$Sch(t,\tau) \coloneqq \partial_{\tau} \left(\frac{\partial_{\tau}^{2} t(\tau)}{\partial_{\tau} t(\tau)} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_{\tau}^{2} t(\tau)}{\partial_{\tau} t(\tau)} \right)^{2} .$$
(3.26)

¹¹This and what follows is somewhat similar to holographic renormalization [57]. Although there is a substantial difference in that the cut-off is not uniform but along a path parametrized by τ .

The action (3.25) could also have been derived by imposing the equations of motion for ϕ on (3.18) and inserting the explicit formula for the extrinsic curvature [75].

Interestingly, a Schwarzian action also appears as the low temperature limit of the Sachdev–Ye–Kitaev model [20] leading to speculation that Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity might be the bulk dual of the Sachdev–Ye–Kitaev model [77, 78]. In this thesis however, we will mostly focus on an alternative CFT_1 system: conformal quantum mechanics.

3.3 Motivating conformal quantum mechanics

Although the model above is quite interesting, one may wonder if there are simpler CFT_1 systems one might construct. A natural starting point is to consider a conformal quantum mechanical system. Although it should be noted that the conformal group in one dimension consists of a full parametrization symmetry, while AdS_2 has a SO(2,1) symmetry. Thus a natural starting point is to consider quantum mechanical systems with this same symmetry group. However, usually its double cover $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ is used instead and therefore we will also focus on that. A canonical conformal quantum mechanics model with this symmetry group was introduced by de Alfaro et al. (dAFF) in reference [23]. In the following chapter we will study their construction more in-depth but here we will give some motivation for why it is a natural object to study in this context. First of all, as we mentioned it is a quantum mechanical system with the correct symmetry group and since many of its properties depend solely on the group properties in some sense the underlying system is interchangeable. The dAFF model can actually be obtained from the Jackiw-Teitelboim gravity described above [24] as well as from a symplectic reduction of hermitian matrix models [79]. This last one is particularly interesting since it has been argued that for pure AdS_2 , the CFT₁ admits a U(N) symmetry group [64].

Now that we have outlined the AdS_2/CFT_1 duality and given a motivation for the dAFF quantum mechanics model, we will turn our attention there. As we will see, it will turn out to have many properties similar to higher dimensional CFT's.

4 Conformal quantum mechanics

As we have seen, the dAFF quantum mechanics model provides a natural candidate for a CFT_1 theory. However as it turns out, many of their results are independent of the actual quantum mechanics and depend solely on the representation theory of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$. Therefore in this chapter we will mostly take this representation theory view and not talk about the specific model. One of the main insights from dAFF was the introduction of a continuous state $|x\rangle$ that acts similar to a position basis in that it provides a way to move from discrete states in the Hilbert space to functions of x. It then turns out that, as was noted already by Chamon et al. [21] that there is an analogue to correlation functions that has very similar properties to those in ordinary CFT's.

We will start this chapter by giving an overview of the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ representation theory in section 4.1. Afterwards we will review the work of dAFF [23] and Chamon et al.[21] in the construction of the dAFF model in section 4.2. We will then expand on this in subsection 4.2.2 by introducing a completeness relation for the states $|x\rangle$ and find that it has some similar properties to the shadow operator from conformal field theories. This completeness relation then allows us to find formula's for all higher order correlation functions. Finally we propose an interpretation of the dAFF model as the boundary theory of a canonical discrete series representation of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ on the Poincaré upper half plane in section 4.3.

4.1 Representations of the 1-dimensional conformal group

Since conformal quantum mechanics consists of representations of the 1-dimensional conformal group, the first task at hand is to classify these and choose one to build our representation on. The irreducible representations of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ were first classified by Bargmann in [80] by first classifying the representations of the Lie algebra. Here we will take a similar approach and note that the representations of the Lie algebra can be lifted to a representation of the group in the usual way. Some of the general theory of Lie groups and algebras can be found in Lee [81], while a more in-depth look as well as an overview of the representation theory can be found in references [53] and [54] by Knapp, as well as [82] by Hall. Much of this theory is then applied to the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ group by Lang in [83].

The $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ group is defined as the group of 2x2 matrices satisfying

$$\begin{vmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{vmatrix} = ad - bc = 1 \tag{4.1}$$

where a, b, c and d are real. Or equivalently, with the function $f: GL(2, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$

$$f\begin{pmatrix} a & b\\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = ad - bc \tag{4.2}$$

 $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ is defined by

$$f(A) = 1 \Leftrightarrow A \in SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \tag{4.3}$$

where $A \in GL(2, \mathbb{R})$. Since this group is a Lie group, it has a corresponding Lie algebra which is isomorphic to the tangent space of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ at the identity element. Using that $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ has f as its defining function this Lie algebra this is then given by

$$\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}) \simeq T_e SL(2,\mathbb{R}) = \{ v \in T_e GL(2,\mathbb{R}) \mid (df)_e(v) = 0 \}$$

$$(4.4)$$

which results in the algebra of $2x^2$ traceless matrices.¹² A common basis of this Lie algebra is given by

$$X_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ; \quad X_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} ; \quad X_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & -\frac{1}{2} \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.5)

and satisfy the commutation relations

$$[X_1, X_2] = -2X_3; \quad [X_1, X_3] = -X_1; \quad [X_2, X_3] = X_2$$
 (4.6)

where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the commutator for matrices. Now, for a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} with an inner product $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ we construct a representation $\pi : \mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathfrak{gl}(\mathcal{H})$ as

$$\pi(X_1) = iK; \ \pi(X_2) = iP; \ \pi(X_3) = iD$$
(4.7)

which is taken as the definitions of D, P and K. Note that unitarity implies that these operators are self-adjoint with respect to the inner product of \mathcal{H} . The requirement that the representation is a Lie algebra homomorphism then fixes the commutation relations of P, K and D to be

$$\begin{bmatrix} D, P \end{bmatrix} = iP \\ \begin{bmatrix} D, K \end{bmatrix} = -iK \\ \begin{bmatrix} P, K \end{bmatrix} = -2iD$$

$$(4.8)$$

and we see that D, P and K can be identified as the dilatation, translation and special conformal transformation operators of the conformal group. To see how these operators act on the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , first note that

$$X_R \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(X_1 + X_2) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(4.9)

generates the maximal compact subgroup $SO(2) \subset SL(2,\mathbb{R})$. The representation $\pi|_{X_R}$ restricts to a representation of $\mathfrak{so}(2)$ and therefore R defined by

$$\pi(X_R) = iR \tag{4.10}$$

is compact and there exists a complete orthonormal basis $|n\rangle$ of \mathcal{H} such that

$$R|n\rangle = \lambda_n |n\rangle = (\lambda + n)|n\rangle \tag{4.11}$$

where λ and λ_n are integers or half-integers and n is an integer. Knowing this, it is useful to define the operators

$$L_{\pm} := \frac{1}{2}(P - K) \pm iD$$
(4.12)

¹²Note that for matrix groups, their Lie algebra's themselves also consist of matrices.

Name of the representation	Value of Δ	Eigenvalues of R	Range of n
Principal series	$\Delta = \frac{1}{2} + i\nu, \nu \in \mathbb{R}$	$\lambda_n = n \text{ or } \lambda_n = \frac{1}{2} + n$	$n \in \mathbb{Z}$
Positive discrete series	$\Delta \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0,1\}$	$\lambda_n = \Delta + n$	$n \in \mathbb{N}$
Negative discrete series	$-\Delta \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0,1\}$	$\lambda_n = \Delta - n$	$n \in \mathbb{N}$
Complementary series	$\Delta \in (0,1)$	$\lambda_n = n \text{ or } \lambda_n = \frac{1}{2} + n$	$n \in \mathbb{Z}$

which satisfy the commutation relations

$$[R, L_{\pm}] = \pm L_{\pm}; \quad [L_{-}, L_{+}] = 2R \tag{4.13}$$

as well as $(L^+)^{\dagger} = L^-$, which is a requirement for them to act as proper raising and lowering operators. The commutation relations then imply that the state $L_{\pm}|n\rangle$ is an eigenstate of Rwith eigenvalue $\lambda_n + 1$, thus we find that

$$L_{\pm}|n\rangle = C_{n,\pm}|n\pm1\rangle \tag{4.14}$$

where $C_{n,\pm}$ is a constant. One final necessary ingredient is that the quadratic Casimir

$$C \coloneqq -D^2 + \frac{1}{2}(PK + KP) = R^2 - \frac{1}{2}(L_+L_- + L_-L_+)$$
(4.15)

commutes with all other generators. For a unitary irreducible representation any operator that commutes with all other operators must be proportional to the identity and thus for all $|\phi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$ we should require that

$$C|\phi\rangle = \Delta(\Delta - 1)|\phi\rangle \tag{4.16}$$

where Δ is a constant which defines the representation. By applying equations (4.14) and (4.16) one obtains the relations

$$|C_{n,\pm}|^2 = \lambda_n(\lambda_n \pm 1) - \Delta(\Delta - 1) \tag{4.17}$$

which, if $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ is a well-defined inner product should be equal to or greater than zero. Thus one finds the inequality

$$\Delta(\Delta - 1) \le \lambda_n(\lambda_n \pm 1) \tag{4.18}$$

which can be satisfied in the following ways which classify all unitary irreducible representations of $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ [80, 83].

In this chapter we will mostly focus on the positive discrete series following the original constructions by dAFF [23], however interesting work has also been done to extend these constructions to the principal series [84]. Note that it is possible to obtain non-unitary finite dimensional representations by analytically continuing the principal series representations to $\Delta \in \mathbb{Z}$ [85]. These representations will be considered in the following chapter. Since we are working in the positive discrete series representation, there exists a lowest weight state $|0\rangle$ that satisfies

$$L_{-}|0\rangle = 0 ; \quad R|0\rangle = \Delta|0\rangle \tag{4.19}$$

and all other states in the representation can be generated by successively applying L_+ to this state. Thus noting that equation (4.17) implies that

$$L_{\pm}|n\rangle = \sqrt{\lambda_n(\lambda_n \pm 1) - \Delta(\Delta - 1)}|n \pm 1\rangle$$
(4.20)

assuming $C_{n,\pm}$ is real. Therefore for any state $|n\rangle$ it is possible to rewrite it as

$$|n\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(2\Delta)}{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(2\Delta+n)}} (L_{+})^{n} |0\rangle$$
(4.21)

where Γ are the Gamma functions. Using this representation it is now possible to define a $|x\rangle$ state alongside a representation of D, K and P as differential operators. This will turn out to have some interesting properties similar to conformal field theories.

4.2 Continuous representations

While the above representations of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ are useful, it would be nice to construct states in terms of a continuous variable x in order to make it more similar to conventional CFT's. This was originally done by dAFF [23] who introduced a conformal quantum mechanical system alongside with a continuous state $|x\rangle$ was introduced which acts similar to a position basis in ordinary quantum mechanics. With this position basis dAFF calculated an analogue to a correlation function and found formulas very similar to those in ordinary CFT's, as was also noted by Chamon et al. [21] In this subsection we will briefly recall this construction, although slightly modified to fit in line with the conventional CFT operators described in subsection 2.1. With this we will then also calculate the two and three-point functions. In the following sections we will then expand on this by introducing some new calculational tools and try to interpret it as the boundary theory of a quantum field theory on AdS.

In [23] dAFF constructs the state $|x\rangle$ by defining a realization of the $\mathfrak{so}(2,1)$ algebra as differential operators on it. Following this, we define $|x\rangle$ such that¹³

$$\begin{aligned} \langle x|P &= -i\frac{d}{dx}\langle x| \\ \langle x|K &= -i(x^2\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta x)\langle x| \\ \langle x|D &= -i(x\frac{d}{dx} + \Delta)\langle x| \end{aligned}$$
(4.22)

which satisfy the commutation relations (4.8) and give rise to the correct Casimir (4.16). Since the states $|n\rangle$ form a basis in \mathcal{H} it is possible to expand

$$|x\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |n\rangle \langle n|x\rangle \tag{4.23}$$

and thus to obtain an explicit form for $|x\rangle$ it is enough to find an expression for

$$\beta_n(x) \coloneqq \langle x | n \rangle . \tag{4.24}$$

To obtain an expression for β_n , note that (4.22) together with the definition of R given in (4.10) imply that

$$\langle x|R|n\rangle = -\frac{i}{2}\left((1+x^2)\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta x\right)\langle x|n\rangle \tag{4.25}$$

¹³Note again the difference in convention compared to [23] and [21].

while (4.11) implies that

$$\langle x|R|n\rangle = (\Delta+n)\langle x|n\rangle . \tag{4.26}$$

Combining the two gives the following differential equation for β_n

$$-\frac{i}{2}\left((1+x^2)\frac{d}{dx}+2\Delta x\right)\beta_n(x) = (\Delta+n)\beta_n(x)$$
(4.27)

which has as its solution

$$\beta_n(x) = a_n \left(\frac{1+ix}{1-ix}\right)^{n+\Delta} (1+x^2)^{-\Delta}$$
(4.28)

with a_n a constant. This constant can then be fixed by calculating $\langle x|L_{\pm}|n\rangle$ and requiring that (4.20) holds. This results in

$$a_n = a_0 \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(2\Delta + n)}{\Gamma(n+1)}} \tag{4.29}$$

where a_0 is an arbitrary constant which will be set to 1 from now on. Formulas (4.28) and (4.21) can be inserted into the expansion (4.23) resulting in

$$|x\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \beta_n^*(x) |n\rangle = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(\frac{1-ix}{1+ix}\right)^{n+\Delta} (1+x^2)^{-\Delta} (L_+)^n |0\rangle$$
(4.30)

which can be evaluated to

$$|x\rangle = \frac{e^{\frac{1-ix}{1+ix}L_+}}{(1+ix)^{2\Delta}}|0\rangle \eqqcolon \mathcal{O}(x)|0\rangle .$$
(4.31)

Note that while schematically this looks similar to a conformal operator \mathcal{O} acting on a vacuum state $|0\rangle$, one has to keep in mind that $|0\rangle$ is just the lowest weight state defined in equation (4.19). This is not annihilated by all operators and therefore not a true ground state as one would find in an ordinary quantum field theory. Similarly \mathcal{O} does not satisfy the commutation relations with P, K and D that one would expect from a conformal primary. However both combined do act as a conformal primary, as we will see below.

Formulas (4.28) for $\beta_n(x)$ and (4.31) for $|x\rangle$ will now be used to calculate an analogue to correlation functions in a conventional conformal field theory and as we will see these will turn out to have the correct form.

4.2.1 Two and three-point correlation functions

In an ordinary conformal field theory the main objects of interests are the correlation functions. In fact, it is even possible to define a conformal field theory just using these and a small amount of other data [86]. Thus it is natural to consider the "correlation function"

$$G(x_1, x_2) \coloneqq \langle 0 | \mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1) \mathcal{O}(x_2) | 0 \rangle = \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle$$
(4.32)

in this conformal quantum mechanics theory and see if it has similar behaviour, here $\mathcal{O}(t)$ is as defined in (4.31). There are two ways to evaluate equation (4.32), both originally performed in [23]. Firstly, since the eigenstates $|n\rangle$ form a complete orthonormal basis it is possible to insert these resulting in

$$G(x_1, x_2) = \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle = \sum_n \langle x_1 | n \rangle \langle n | x_2 \rangle = \sum_n \beta_n(x_1) \beta_n^*(x_2)$$
(4.33)

which, when inserting 4.28 and performing the sum becomes

$$G(x_1, x_2) = \frac{\Gamma(2\Delta)}{(2i|x_2 - x_1|)^{2\Delta}}$$
(4.34)

Note that this is precisely the form of the correlation function for a conformal operator with conformal dimension Δ in a conformal field theory. However, as [21] have noted this is despite the fact that $|0\rangle$ is not a fully invariant vacuum and \mathcal{O} is not a covariantly transforming operator.

Interestingly, this correlation function could have also been derived using by inserting D, K and P in $\langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle$, and letting them act on both $\langle x_1 |$ and $| x_2 \rangle$ separately giving a differential equation for G. To do this, it is first necessary to calculate the action of the operators on $|x_1\rangle$, which can be done by taking equation (4.31) and acting on it with P, K and H. This results in

$$P|x_i\rangle = i\frac{d}{dx_i}|x_i\rangle$$

$$K|x_i\rangle = i(x_i^2\frac{d}{dx_i} + 2\Delta x_i)\langle x_i|$$

$$D|x_i\rangle = i(x_i\frac{d}{dx_i}|x_i\rangle$$
(4.35)

Therefore, calculating $\langle x_1 | P | x_2 \rangle$ results in

$$\langle x_1 | P | x_2 \rangle = -i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle = i \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle \tag{4.36}$$

giving a differential equation for $G(x_1, x_2) = \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle$. Performing a similar procedure for D and K results in the set of differential equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} \end{pmatrix} G = 0 (x_1 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2}) G = 0 \left(x_1^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_1} + x_2^2 \frac{\partial}{\partial x_2} + 2\Delta(x_1 + x_2) \right) G = 0$$

$$(4.37)$$

which when solved also results in (4.34), as was originally shown by dAFF in reference [23]. Using this same method, dAFF also derived a 3-point correlator by inserting a conformal operator B satisfying

$$[P,B] = i\frac{d}{dx}B [D,B] = i(x\frac{d}{dx} + \Delta_B)B [K,B] = i(x^2\frac{d}{dx} + 2x\Delta_B)B$$

$$(4.38)$$

where Δ_B is the conformal dimension of B. Defining

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) \coloneqq \langle x_1 | B(x_2) | x_3 \rangle \tag{4.39}$$

and calculating

$$\begin{array}{l} \langle x_1 | [P, B(x)] | x_2 \rangle \\ \langle x_1 | [K, B(x)] | x_2 \rangle \\ \langle x_1 | [D, B(x)] | x_2 \rangle \end{array}$$

$$(4.40)$$

this gives rise to a set of differential equations satisfied by F. With these dAFF then found that the unique (up to a constant) solution of this is given by

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) = ai^{2\Delta + \Delta_B} \frac{1}{|x_2 - x_1|^{\Delta_B} |x_3 - x_2|^{\Delta_B} |x_1 - x_3|^{\Delta - \Delta_B}}$$
(4.41)

where a is a real constant. Note again the similarity to the conformal three point functions found in conformal field theory.

While the above strategy of either performing the summation over β_n functions directly or solving a set of differential equations works for two- and three-point functions, it runs into trouble for higher order correlation functions. There is no clear way of performing the sum since the matrix element $\langle n|B|m\rangle$ is unknown while the resulting differential equations quickly become much too complicated. To solve this it is necessary to introduce an operator called the shadow operator [87] which makes it possible to obtain a modified completeness relation, greatly simplifying the calculations needed.

4.2.2 Completeness relations and the shadow operator

To calculate the higher point functions it would be useful to have a completeness relation for the states $|x\rangle$. Since then, any *n*-point correlation function could be split into a three-point function and an n-1 point function. For example, a four-point function $\langle 0|\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1)A(x_2)B(x_3)\mathcal{O}(x_4)|0\rangle$ could be split as

$$\langle 0|\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1)A(x_2)B(x_3)\mathcal{O}(x_4)|0\rangle = \langle 0|\mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1)A(x_2)|X\rangle\langle X'|B(x_3)\mathcal{O}(x_4)|0\rangle$$
(4.42)

where $|X\rangle\langle X'|$ is schematic notation for some unknown completeness relation. In ordinary quantum mechanics for a position basis satisfying

$$\langle x|x'\rangle = \mu(x,x')\delta(x-x') \tag{4.43}$$

one would find a completeness relation of the form

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \frac{1}{\mu(x, x')} |x\rangle \langle x| = 1 \tag{4.44}$$

with μ an arbitrary non-zero function. This is a problem though since from equation (4.34) one can see that the states $|x\rangle$ do not satisfy the equation (4.43). Therefore a different approach is necessary. Interestingly in conformal field theories, a similar problem occurs in the conformal block decomposition used in the conformal bootstrap method [88]. There in order to calculate *n*-point correlators a conformal block expansion is introduced that splits

it into two lower order correlation functions analogous to equation (4.42) [87]. This split is achieved by introducing a projection operator $P_{\mathcal{O}}$ that satisfies

$$\sum_{\mathcal{O}} P_{\mathcal{O}} = 1 \tag{4.45}$$

where the sum is over conformal primaries [86]. In other words, the sum over these projection operators is a completeness relation in conformal field theories.

A particularly convenient method of obtaining these projection operators is using the shadow operator formalism originally due to Ferrara, Grillo, Parisi and Gatto [89, 90] and generalized by Simmons-Duffin [87]. There for each scalar conformal operator \mathcal{O} its shadow operator $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$ is defined as¹⁴

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^d x' \langle \mathcal{O}(x) \mathcal{O}(x') \rangle \big|_{\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}} \mathcal{O}(x')$$
(4.46)

where $|_{\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}}$ denotes that in the correlation function Δ is replaced with the shadow dimension $\widetilde{\Delta} := d - \Delta$. This shadow dimension is defined such that the action of the conformal Casimir is invariant under $\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}$. Since for a scalar the 2-point correlation function in a conformal field theory is of the form $C|x - x'|^{-2\Delta}$ the shadow operator is given by

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^d x' \frac{C}{|x - x'|^{2(d - \Delta)}} \mathcal{O}(x') .$$
(4.47)

Note that this integral is formally divergent and therefore some regularization procedure will be required. The conformal projectors can now be written in terms of the shadow operator as

$$P_{\mathcal{O}} \coloneqq \mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{O}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^d x |\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle \langle \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)|$$
(4.48)

where $\mathcal{N}_{\mathcal{O}}$ is chosen such that (4.45) holds and $|\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle$ denotes $\mathcal{O}(x)$ acting on the CFT vacuum.

Motivated by this action of the shadow operator it would be tempting to try to immediately apply formulas (4.46) and (4.48) to the quantum mechanical system described above. There is however some subtlety that needs to be taken care of first. The operation of taking the shadow operator is a unitary transformation between two principal series representations with the same Casimir charges. Since the Casimir acts as $C = \Delta(\Delta - 1)$ which is invariant under $\Delta \rightarrow \tilde{\Delta} = 1 - \Delta$ [51]. However, the representation above is a discrete series representation and therefore one should expect that a different approach might be necessary. As we will see in the following chapter, for the Hodge theoretical setting the approach above will work. This is not surprising since there a finite dimensional representation is used, which is an analytical continuation of the principal series [85]. To give an alternative in this context, we will define a heuristic method of performing a similar operation.

Since the shadow transform is a map between representations the goal is to obtain a similar map for the discrete series. The first requirement is that the two representations have the

¹⁴This definition also extends naturally to operators with spin, however since our application will focus on scalar fields we will only consider those here.

same Casimir charge, which is achieved by the transformation $\Delta \to \tilde{\Delta} = 1 - \Delta$. However, since the states $|n\rangle$ in the quantum mechanics setting have eigenvalues $\Delta + n$ with respect to R, this action changes the eigenvalue to $\tilde{\Delta} + n = n + 1 - \Delta$. To correct for this it is then also necessary to replace $n \to \tilde{n} = 2\Delta + n - 1$. Combining these we obtain a heuristic "shadow transform" S. While this procedure might seem somewhat arbitrary, applying it to the β_n as given in (4.28) results in

$$S[\beta_n](x) = \beta_n(x)\big|_{(n,\Delta)\to(\tilde{n},\tilde{\Delta})} = \tilde{a}_n \left(\frac{1+ix}{1-ix}\right)^{n+\Delta} (1+x^2)^{\Delta-1}$$
(4.49)

where

$$\tilde{a}_n = a_n \big|_{(n,\Delta) \to (\tilde{n},\tilde{\Delta})} = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(n+1)}{\Gamma(2\Delta+n)}} = \frac{1}{a_n}$$
(4.50)

and a_n is as defined in equation (4.29) with $a_0 = 1$ as before.

With this expression it is possible to define a "shadow operator" such that

$$\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)|0\rangle \coloneqq \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} S[\beta_n](x)|n\rangle$$
(4.51)

analogous to the definition of \mathcal{O} in (4.31).¹⁵ With this operator it is now possible to define the projection operator (4.48)

$$P \coloneqq \mathcal{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ \mathcal{O}(x) |0\rangle \langle 0|\tilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)$$
(4.52)

where \mathcal{N} is a constant to be determined. Since there is only one "primary" operator in the conformal quantum mechanics setting the sum in equation (4.45) becomes trivial and P should be proportional to the identity. Since the states $|n\rangle$ form a complete orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} it is enough to check that

$$P_{n,m} \coloneqq \langle n | P | m \rangle = \delta_{n,m} \tag{4.53}$$

with δ the Kronecker delta. Inserting the explicit expressions for P, \mathcal{O} and $\tilde{\mathcal{O}}$ as given in (4.52), (4.30) and (4.51) then results in

$$P_{n,m} = \mathcal{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ \beta_n(x) \tilde{\beta}_n^*(x) = a_n \tilde{a}_m \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ \left(\frac{1+ix}{1-ix}\right)^{n-m} (1+x^2)^{-1}$$
(4.54)

which, when making the change of coordinates $x = tan(\theta)$ evaluates to

$$P_{n,m} = a_n \tilde{a}_m \mathcal{N} \int_{-\pi/2}^{\pi/2} d\theta \ e^{2i\theta(n-m)} = a_n \tilde{a}_m \mathcal{N} \pi \delta_{n,m}$$
(4.55)

¹⁵Interestingly, since $|0\rangle$ is the actual state in the representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ one might wonder if this also needs to be transformed somehow. This however seems not to be the case as we will see below.

with δ again the Kronecker delta. Thus, setting $\mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{\pi}$ and noting that $a_n \tilde{a}_n = 1$ results in

$$P_{n,m} = \delta_{n,m} \tag{4.56}$$

as required. Thus P gives a pseudo-completeness relation for the states $|x\rangle$ which can be used to calculate arbitrarily high correlation functions by inserting P, inserting expressions for lower order correlation functions and performing the integrals. We will now briefly show how to find integral expressions for the higher order correlators.

4.2.3 Higher order correlators

In order to show the usefulness of this completion relation, lets consider the 4-point function

$$F_4(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \coloneqq \langle x_1 | A(x_2) B(x_3) | x_4 \rangle$$
(4.57)

where A and B satisfy the commutation relations (4.38) with conformal dimensions Δ_A and Δ_B respectively. Now inserting the projection operator P from equation (4.52) and using that P = 1 results in

$$F_4(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ \langle x_1 | A(x_2) | x \rangle \langle 0 | \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) B(x_3) | x_4 \rangle \tag{4.58}$$

where the first term in the integral is just the 3-point function from equation (4.41). The second term is similar to the 3-point function and can be obtained in a similar way by solving the differential equations it satisfies. To find these, first note that

$$\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)P = -i\frac{d}{dx}\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)$$
(4.59)

$$\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)D = -i(x\frac{d}{dx} + 1 - \Delta)\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)$$
(4.60)

$$\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)K = -i(x^2\frac{d}{dx} + 2(1-\Delta))\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)$$
(4.61)

which are analogous to (4.22) but with $\Delta \rightarrow 1-\Delta$. With these it is again possible to calculate the commutators

$$\begin{array}{l} \langle 0 | \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \left[P, B(x_3) \right] | x_4 \rangle \\ \langle 0 | \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \left[K, B(x_3) \right] | x_4 \rangle \\ \langle 0 | \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \left[D, B(x_3) \right] | x_4 \rangle \end{array}$$

$$(4.62)$$

in order to find

$$\langle 0|\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)B(x_3)|x_4\rangle \propto \frac{1}{|x-x_3|^{\Delta_B+1-2\Delta}|x_3-x_4|^{\Delta_B-1+2\Delta}|x-x_4|^{1-\Delta_B}}$$
 (4.63)

analogous to a 3-point CFT correlator where the operators have weights $1 - \Delta$, Δ_B and Δ respectively. Inserting this and equation (4.41) into equation (4.58) then results in

$$F_4(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4) \propto \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \frac{1}{|x_2 - x_1|^{\Delta_A} |x - x_2|^{\Delta_A} |x_1 - x|^{\Delta - \Delta_A}} \frac{1}{|x - x_3|^{\Delta_B + 1 - 2\Delta} |x_3 - x_4|^{\Delta_B - 1 + 2\Delta} |x - x_4|^{1 - \Delta_B}} \,.$$
(4.64)

Unfortunately we were not able to solve this integral in complete generality, however these kind of integrals are very similar to those appearing in CFT 4-point functions and therefore it might be possible to apply tools used there such as Mellin-Barnes representations or the embedding formalism [87, 91]. One should note that the above procedure generalizes in an obvious way to higher order correlation functions, making it possible to find integral expressions for any n-point correlator. Even if the resulting integrals turn out to be unsolvable in full generality, having these integral expressions then still makes it possible to study their properties in more detail as well as calculate them in certain special cases or approximations.

We will now take a step back from the correlators and completeness relations discussed above by considering a certain discrete series representation of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ on the Poincaré upper half plane, and as we will see this turns out to have an interesting connection to the quantum mechanics model described above.

4.3 The discrete series representation on the Poincaré half-plane

To see the connection between the quantum mechanical system above and the discrete series on the Poincaré upper half-plane it is first necessary to construct the latter. We will mostly follow the excellent book by Lang on the $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ group in doing this [83] and emphasize the connection to conformal quantum mechanics. To start, define the upper half plane

$$\mathbb{H}^2 \coloneqq \{ z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \mathrm{Im}(z) > 0 \}$$

$$(4.65)$$

with its metric given by

$$ds^2 = \frac{dx^2 + dy^2}{y^2} \tag{4.66}$$

where we write z = x + iy. This metric is invariant under the action of $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ on \mathbb{H}^2 given by

$$gz = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$
 for $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ (4.67)

and in fact $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ gives the full isometry group of \mathbb{H}^2 . The Hilbert space our representation will act on is the space of holomorphic square integrable functions on \mathbb{H}^2 with the measure $d\mu_{\Delta}(z) := y^{2\Delta-2} dx dy$ which will be denoted by \mathcal{H}_{Δ} . The discrete series representation $\pi_{\Delta} : SL(2, \mathbb{R}) \to GL(\mathcal{H}_{\Delta})$ is then defined as

$$\pi_{\Delta}(g)f(z) \coloneqq \frac{f(g^{-1}z)}{(cz+d)^{\Delta}} \quad \text{for } g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in SL(2,\mathbb{R})$$
(4.68)

and $f \in \mathcal{H}_{\Delta}$. For the generators X_i defined in (4.5) this transformation rule implies that

$$\pi_{\Delta}(e^{tX_{1}})f(z) = f(z+t)
\pi_{\Delta}(e^{tX_{2}})f(z) = \frac{1}{(1+tz)^{\Delta}}f(\frac{z}{1+tz})
\pi_{\Delta}(e^{tX_{3}})f(z) = e^{t\Delta}f(e^{t}z)$$
(4.69)

where $t \in \mathbb{R}$. Note that these are exactly the transformation rules of a primary operator under conformal transformations.

It is possible to associate an infinitesimal generator to each element $X \in \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ by calculating

$$\mathcal{L}_X(f) \coloneqq \frac{d}{dt} \pi_\Delta(e^{tX}) f \big|_{t=0}$$
(4.70)

which, for the generators X_i defined in (4.5) results in

$$\mathcal{L}_{1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \mathcal{L}_{2} = (x^{2} - y^{2})\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + 2xy\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + 2\Delta(x + iy) \mathcal{L}_{3} = x\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + \Delta$$

$$(4.71)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_i \coloneqq \mathcal{L}_{X_i}$. Lang then showed that this was a unitary irreducible representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ with lowest weight Δ . Furthermore, the functions

$$\phi_{\Delta,n}(z) \coloneqq a_n \left(\frac{1+iz}{1-iz}\right)^{\Delta+n} (1+z^2)^{-\Delta} \tag{4.72}$$

form a complete orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H}_{Δ} , where *n* is a positive integer and a_n is as in equation (4.29). Note the similarity with the β_n functions as given in equation (4.28). This is not coincidentally since as we will see the quantum mechanical system above can be thought of as the boundary theory associated to this representation.

To see this, first note that taking the limit $y \to 0$ of \mathcal{L}_i as written in equation (4.71) results in

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \mathcal{L}_{1} = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} = iP$$

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \mathcal{L}_{2} = x^{2} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + 2\Delta x = iK$$

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \mathcal{L}_{3} = x \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \Delta = iD$$
(4.73)

where P, K and D are as defined in equation (4.22). This gives a motivation for the original definition of the differential operators given in equation (4.22), which originally was just obtained by identifying P as the generator of translations and requiring that the commutators as well as the Casimir charge are correct. Furthermore, defining the operators

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{L}_{R} &\coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_{1} + \mathcal{L}_{2}) \\
\mathcal{L}_{+} &\coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_{1} - \mathcal{L}_{2}) + i\mathcal{L}_{3} \\
\mathcal{L}_{-} &\coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(\mathcal{L}_{1} - \mathcal{L}_{2}) - i\mathcal{L}_{3}
\end{aligned} \tag{4.74}$$

and letting them act on $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ as defined in equation (4.72) results in

$$\mathcal{L}_{R}\phi_{\Delta,n} = i(\Delta+n)\phi_{\Delta,n}
\mathcal{L}_{+}\phi_{\Delta,n} = -i(2\Delta+n)\phi_{\Delta,n+1}
\mathcal{L}_{-}\phi_{\Delta,n} = -in\phi_{\Delta,n-1}$$
(4.75)

analogously to the action of R and L_{\pm} on the β_n functions defined in equation (4.24). The $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ are in fact also eigenfunctions of the Casimir

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathcal{C}} \coloneqq \mathcal{L}_{3}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}(L_{1}L_{2} + L_{2}L_{1}) = \Delta(\Delta - 1) - y^{2}\left(\frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial x^{2}} + \frac{\partial^{2}}{\partial y^{2}}\right) + 2y\Delta\left(i\frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial y}\right)$$
(4.76)

with eigenvalue $\Delta(\Delta - 1)$. Interestingly, the second term is the Laplacian on \mathbb{H}^2 and the third term is $\frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{z}}$ which is zero since we are only dealing with holomorphic functions. This combined with the fact that the functions $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ are annihilated by the Laplacian guarantees that they have eigenvalue $\Delta(\Delta - 1)$. Note that this is different from ordinary free fields on AdS₂ which classically are eigenfunctions of the Laplacian, not annihilated by it.

Taking the limit of $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ to the boundary is trivial and results in a correspondence between the $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ of equation (4.72) and the β_n functions of equation (4.28). To see this, simply taking the limit

$$\lim_{y \to 0} \phi_{\Delta,n}(z) = \lim_{y \to 0} a_n \left(\frac{1+iz}{1-iz}\right)^{n+\Delta} (1+z^2)^{-\Delta} = \beta_n(x)$$
(4.77)

is enough. Note that this limit is slightly different than the limit usually taken in the AdS/CFT correspondence, since there for a field ψ with conformal dimension Δ the limit

$$\lim_{y \to 0} y^{\Delta - d} \psi(x, y) \tag{4.78}$$

is usually taken to be equivalent to the source of a conformal operator [33], while the limit

$$\lim_{y \to 0} y^{-\Delta} \psi(x, y) \tag{4.79}$$

is taken to be either the expectation value of the operator, or in the extended dictionary the operator itself [34]. The difference in limits however is simply due to the fact that the fields $\phi_{\Delta,n}$ are elements of $\mathcal{H}_{\Delta} = L(\mathbb{H}^2, \mu_{\Delta})$ and thus appear with an extra factor of y^{Δ} in integrals. It is therefore possible to associate a function $f_{\mathbb{H}^2} \in L^2(\mathbb{H}^2)$ on \mathbb{H}^2 to any function $f_{\Delta} \in \mathcal{H}_{\Delta}$ by taking $f_{\mathbb{H}^2}(z) \coloneqq y^{\Delta} f_{\Delta}$. This is then in $L^2(\mathbb{H}^2)$ since

$$\int_{\mathbb{H}^2} \frac{dxdy}{y^2} |f_{\mathbb{H}}(x,y)|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{H}^2} \frac{dxdy}{y^2} y^{2\Delta} |f_{\Delta}(x,y)|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{H}^2} d\mu_{\Delta}(z) |f_{\Delta}(x,y)|^2 < \infty .$$
(4.80)

as required. Taking the limit to the boundary y = 0 of f_{Δ} is then equivalent to taking the limit

$$\lim_{y \to 0} f_{\Delta} = \lim_{y \to 0} y^{-\Delta} f_{\mathcal{H}^2} \tag{4.81}$$

which the AdS/CFT limit relating bulk fields to boundary operators in the extrapolate dictionary [34, 44]. There seems to be no clear interpretation however for the other limit in equation (4.78) associated to sources in the conventional AdS/CFT dictionary.

The system above is interesting though because it gives some insights into the conformal quantum mechanics defined previously. The exact form of the differential operators defined in (4.22) may have seemed a bit arbitrary at first but now is realized as the boundary limits of differential operators acting on \mathbb{H}^2 in a canonical way. Furthermore the wave functions at the boundary are just directly the boundary limits of the wave functions in \mathcal{H}_{Δ} . This means that a natural interpretation of the conformal quantum mechanics system is just simply as the boundary theory of quantum mechanics in \mathcal{H}_{Δ} . While it might be tempting to imbue this with some sense of holography, this seems unlikely as the mapping seems much too simple to allow for the more interesting aspects of AdS/CFT. I.e. there is no theory of gravity in

the bulk and while the analogue of correlation functions does match in the bulk and in the boundary, the calculation is much too trivial to obtain interesting information from since a lot of the complexity of field theories is missing. It would be interesting to promote both the boundary and the bulk theory to quantum field theories by second quantization and see if that yields interesting results. This could be done in further research.

Now that we have studied this conformal quantum mechanics model, we will construct a similar model for the Hodge theoretical setting. As we will see, much of the constructions can directly be carried over although there is the crucial difference that the resulting representation is not unitary.

5 Finite dimensional representations in Hodge theory

Having studied the conformal quantum mechanics setting in the previous chapter, we now turn towards the second main object of interest of this thesis: the finite dimensional $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representations from Hodge theory. In order to understand broadly what these are and why they are relevant, we need to take a brief look at string compactifications. Quite famously, string theory requires more than 4 dimensions in order to be consistent. Since at our every day energy-scales we see only 4 dimensions, string theory needs a method that hides these dimensions as these energy scales. This is what is is achieved by compactification. Usually, compactification starts by considering string theory on a product manifold¹⁶

$$\mathcal{M} \times K$$
 (5.1)

where K is a compact manifold called the internal manifold. This decomposition then results in an effective theory over \mathcal{M} which depends on the internal geometry of K. For example, if K is sufficiently small this effective theory will keep only the massless excitations on K. A natural question then is how this effective theory varies as this internal geometry changes.



Figure 2: Two tori with different geometries, choosing either as the internal manifold K will lead to different effective theories on \mathcal{M} .

Much of this information about the geometry is captured by the de Rham cohomologies $H^n(K, \mathbb{C})$ and their Hodge decomposition, which have been used to study the infinite distance conjecture [92] and flux vacua [93]. These Hodge decompositions result in vector spaces that change over the space of all geometries, the moduli space. This moduli space has boundaries that denote singular geometries, for example for the torus this would be taking its width to zero. Interestingly near these boundaries these de Rham cohomologies split into a so-called limiting mixed Hodge structure. These cohomologies then decompose in to finite dimensional $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ representations [29, 30]. Meaning that there are is a triple N^0 , N^{\pm} satisfying the $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ algebra

$$[N^0, N^{\pm}] = \pm 2N^{\pm}; \quad [N^+, N^-] = N^0 \tag{5.2}$$

along with a basis $|n, \Delta\rangle$ of N^0 eigenstates that satisfy

$$N^{0}|n,\Delta\rangle = 2n|n,\Delta\rangle \tag{5.3}$$

$$N^{\pm}|n,\Delta\rangle \propto |n\pm 1,\Delta\rangle$$
 (5.4)

¹⁶For a good reference see the excellent book by Blumenhagen, Lüst and Theisen [28], especially chapters 10, 14 and 17.

where Δ here is an integer that defines the highest weight of the representation, i.e. $-\Delta \leq n \leq \Delta$. Note however that these states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ do not directly form a basis of the F^p but of their so-called Deligne splitting, although for us this difference will not be important. A further property of these spaces is given by the nilpotent orbit theorem, which states that near the boundaries in moduli space these vector spaces F behave as

$$F(t) \approx e^{tN^0} F_0 + \mathcal{O}(e^{i2\pi t}) \tag{5.5}$$

where t = x + iy is a coordinate on moduli space and the boundary is at $y \to \infty$. Finally the boundary vector spaces are endowed with an inner product such that the states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ are orthonormal and the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ generators satisfy

$$(N^0)^{\dagger} = N^0 \quad (N^+)^{\dagger} = N^- .$$
 (5.6)

Since both these vector spaces and the conformal quantum mechanics from the previous chapter form $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$ representations, it is interesting to see if these same constructions from conformal quantum mechanics can also be applied to the Hodge theoretical setting. Applying these constructions was one of the main goals of this thesis and in this chapter we will discuss how this can be done. Before this, we will briefly discuss some properties of these finite dimensional representations.

5.1 The finite dimensional representation

Equations (5.2), (5.3) and (5.6) together completely determine the representation already. For example, using the commutation relations (5.2) and the adjoint relations (5.6) one can deduce that N^{\pm} must act as

$$N^{\pm}|n,\Delta\rangle = \sqrt{(\Delta \mp n)(\Delta + 1 \pm n)}|n\pm 1,\Delta\rangle$$
(5.7)

which implies that any state $|n, \Delta\rangle$ can be written as

$$|n,\Delta\rangle = \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(\Delta+1+n)}{\Gamma(\Delta+1-n)\Gamma(2\Delta+1)}} N^{\Delta-n} |\Delta,\Delta\rangle$$
(5.8)

where $|\Delta, \Delta\rangle$ is the highest weight state. Furthermore, the quadratic Casimir in this representation takes the form

$$C^{2} \coloneqq \left((N^{0})^{2} + 2(N^{+}N^{-} + N^{-}N^{+}) \right)$$
(5.9)

which acts as

$$C^{2}|n,\Delta\rangle = 4\Delta(\Delta+1)|n,\Delta\rangle$$
(5.10)

within this representation.

Finally since $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ is non-compact it follows that its unitary irreducible representations are infinite dimensional. However, the representations considered in this chapter are finite dimensional and therefore not unitarizable. To see why this is the case, first notice that by comparing the $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ commutators given in equation (4.6) to equation (5.2) above one can deduce that within this representation

$$X_1 \mapsto N^- \tag{5.11}$$

$$X_2 \mapsto -N^+ \tag{5.12}$$

$$X_3 \mapsto -2N^0 \tag{5.13}$$

where X_i are as defined in equation (4.5). From the Lie group-Lie algebra correspondence we know that it is possible to write any element $g \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ in the connected component to the identity as

$$q = e^{aX_1 + bX_2 + cX_3} \tag{5.14}$$

where a, b and c are real numbers. Thus g will be represented as

$$q \mapsto e^{aN^- - bN^+ - 2cN^0} \tag{5.15}$$

within our representation. Now applying the adjoint relations (5.6) to this equation results in

$$g^{\dagger} \mapsto e^{aN^- - bN^+ - 2cN^0} \tag{5.16}$$

while g^{-1} will be mapped to

$$g^{-1} = e^{-aX_1 - bX_2 - cX_3} \mapsto e^{-aN^- + bN^+ + 2cN^0}$$
(5.17)

and therefore $g^{\dagger} \neq g^{-1}$ for general $g \in SL(2, \mathbb{R})$. Which means that this representation is not unitary. One might wonder if by changing the inner product it would be possible to obtain a unitary representation. The problem here however is that as we mentioned $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ is noncompact and therefore no finite dimensional unitary representations exist [83]. Therefore the representation considered in this chapter will not be unitary nor even unitarizable. This actually has some interesting consequences, first of all as we will see we will associated N^+ with translations in our continuous representation. In quantum mechanics the generator of time translations is usually interpreted as the Hamiltonian which is required to be selfadjoint. However, from the adjoint relations (5.6) it is immediately clear that $(iN^+) \neq iN^+$ and therefore an equation of the form

$$iN^+f = i\frac{d}{dx}f\tag{5.18}$$

is not a proper Schrödinger equation.¹⁷ Note that this is the notion of unitary usually meant in quantum mechanics while the notion of unitarity used above is the one more commonly used when talking about group representations. The representation from this chapter is neither.

¹⁷We have chosen to write the continuous coordinate as x here to connect more clearly with the Hodge theory setting where x also denotes the boundary coordinate. However it can also be interpreted as a time coordinate.

The equations (5.3) to (5.6) as well as equation (5.9) to (5.8) will be the most useful for further study, while the Hodge theory motivating them will play no further role from now on. Thus we will now solely consider the representation in isolation and construct a continuous representation analogous to that in chapter 4.

5.2 Continuous representations

To construct the continuous representations of the system described above we will take a similar approach to the one in chapter 4, namely we will first construct some differential operators acting on a state $\langle x |$ and then find an explicit expression for this state. Since there is a priori no natural definition of the differential operators we have a bit more freedom here. However since the goal is to end up with a state of the form (5.5) a natural requirement is

$$|x\rangle = e^{xN^{-}}|\phi\rangle \tag{5.19}$$

for some state $|\phi\rangle$. This in turn implies that

$$N^{-}|x\rangle = \frac{d}{dx}|x\rangle \tag{5.20}$$

and since $(N^-)^{\dagger} = N^+$ one should expect

$$\langle x|N^+ = \frac{d}{dx}\langle x| \tag{5.21}$$

which we will therefore take as a starting point. Requiring the commutation relations in equation (5.2) as well as that the Casimir acts as in equation (5.9) then fixes the action of N^0 and N^- to be

Now the next step is to find an expression for the state $|x\rangle$. In the conformal quantum mechanics setting it was necessary to define the operator R in order to obtain an orthonormal eigenbasis. Here however, there exists already an orthonormal eigenbasis of N^0 and therefore this step is unnecessary. Using this we can define

$$\beta_n(x) \coloneqq \langle x | n, \Delta \rangle \tag{5.23}$$

which makes it possible to express $|x\rangle$ as

$$|x\rangle = \sum_{n=-\Delta}^{\Delta} |n, \Delta\rangle \langle n, \Delta | x \rangle = \sum_{n=-\Delta}^{\Delta} \beta_n^*(x) |n, \Delta\rangle$$
(5.24)

where it was used that the states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ form an orthonormal basis. Note that in the conformal quantum mechanics setting the similar formula (4.23) involved an infinite sum while here the sum is finite.

An explicit expression for the β_n functions can be found by considering $\langle x|N^0|n,\Delta\rangle$ and using that $|n,\Delta\rangle$ is an eigenstate of N^0 as well as equation (5.22). This then results in the following differential equation

$$(-2t\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta)\beta_n = 2n\beta_n \tag{5.25}$$

which has as its solution

$$\beta_n(x) = a_n x^{\Delta - n} \tag{5.26}$$

with a_n a constant. This constant can then be fixed by requiring that equation (5.7) holds resulting in

$$a_n \coloneqq a_\Delta \sqrt{\frac{\Gamma(2\Delta+1)}{\Gamma(\Delta+1+n)\Gamma(\Delta+1-n)}}$$
(5.27)

where a_{Δ} will be set to 1 from now on. With formulas (5.26) and (5.24) it is now possible to find an explicit expression for $|x\rangle$. This is done by simply inserting (4.24) and (5.8) in (5.24) and performing the sum explicitly, which results in

$$|x\rangle = \sum_{n=-\Delta}^{\Delta} \frac{(xN^{-})^{\Delta-n}}{\Gamma(\Delta+1-n)} |\Delta, \Delta\rangle = e^{xN^{-}} |\Delta, \Delta\rangle$$
(5.28)

where it was used that $(L^{-})^{m}|\Delta, \Delta\rangle = 0$ for $m > 2\Delta$. Note the relative simplicity in comparison with formula (4.21) from conformal quantum mechanics. This difference is due to that in the Hodge theory setting, we are working directly with an eigenbasis of N^{0} while in conformal quantum mechanics it was necessary to work in an eigenbasis of R.¹⁸ N^{0} as a differential operator is much simpler than R was in the previous chapter, as one can see by comparing equations (4.25) and (5.22). The reason why it is possible now to work in an eigenbasis of N^{0} instead of R is that we are no longer working in a unitary representation. In particular, while N^{0} is self-adjoint, N^{\pm} satisfy $(N^{+})^{\dagger} = N^{-}$ which makes it possible for them to act properly as raising and lowering operators. Remember that in the conformal quantum mechanics setting the operators L_{\pm} were defined that satisfied $(L_{+})^{\dagger} = L_{-}$. In fact when working in an orthonormal eigenbasis the raising and lowering operators must satisfy these adjoint relations in order for the theory to be consistent.

With the expression for the β_n functions and the state $|x\rangle$ we will now calculate correlation functions, analogously to what was done in section 4.2.1.

5.2.1 Correlation functions

Similar to in the conformal quantum mechanics setting, it is possible to define an analogue to a correlation function. In order to make this more explicit, we first rewrite equation (5.24) as

$$|x\rangle = \mathcal{O}(x)|\Delta, \Delta\rangle \tag{5.29}$$

¹⁸The analogue of this in conformal quantum mechanics would be to work in an eigenbasis of D.

with

$$\mathcal{O}(x) \coloneqq e^{xN^{-}} \,. \tag{5.30}$$

This then invites us to interpret

$$\langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle = \langle \Delta, \Delta | \mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1) \mathcal{O}(x_2) | \Delta, \Delta \rangle$$
 (5.31)

as a two point correlator of \mathcal{O} acting on a "vacuum state" $|\Delta, \Delta\rangle$. Thus one can define the "correlator"

$$G(x_1, x_2) \coloneqq \langle x_1 | x_2 \rangle \tag{5.32}$$

similar to equation (4.32). Inserting the full set of orthonormal states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ and performing the sum then results in

$$G(x_1, x_2) = \sum_{n=-\Delta}^{\Delta} \beta_n(x_1) \beta_n^*(x_2) = (1 + x_1 x_2)^{2\Delta} .$$
 (5.33)

Interestingly, this looks quite different from a normal correlation function. First of all it does not depend just on the distance $|x_1 - x_2|$, furthermore it diverges as either x_1 or x_2 go to infinity. While these properties make it quite unconventional as a correlation function, as we will see interpreting it this way does have its advantages when defining a shadow operator. Before that, we will show how these properties arise from the differential equations satisfied by G.

Remember that one way of obtaining the correlation function in the conformal quantum mechanics setting was by inserting an operator and letting it act on $\langle x_1 |$ and $\langle x_2 |$ separately, as described in section 4.2.1. One key property there was that the action of the operators on $\langle x_1 |$ and $|x_2 \rangle$ was obtained just by taking the complex conjugate. In the system considered in this chapter however, the action on $|x_i\rangle$ of N^0 and N^{\pm} is given by

$$N^{-}|x_{i}\rangle = \frac{d}{dx_{i}}|x_{i}\rangle$$

$$N^{0}|x_{i}\rangle = (-x_{i}\frac{d}{dx_{i}} + 2\Delta)|x_{i}\rangle$$

$$N^{+}|x_{i}\rangle = (-x_{i}^{2}\frac{d}{dx_{i}} + 2\Delta x_{i})|x_{i}\rangle$$
(5.34)

as can be obtained by explicit calculation. Heuristically, one can see that these equations can also be obtained by taking the adjoint of equations (5.21) and(5.22), although one has to be careful since taking the adjoint of the differential operators in this context is somewhat ill-defined.¹⁹ This suggests the difference in the form of the correlation function is related to the fact that this is a non-unitary representation of $SL(2,\mathbb{R})$. With equations (5.21),(5.22) and (5.34) it is now possible to obtain the differential equations G must satisfy by calculating $\langle x_1|N^0|x_2\rangle$ and $\langle x_2|N^{\pm}|x_2\rangle$. This procedure then results in the following differential equations

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d}{dx_1} + x_2^2 \frac{d}{dx_2} - 2\Delta x_2 \end{pmatrix} G = 0 (x_1 \frac{d}{dx_1} - x_2 \frac{d}{dx_2}) G = 0 (x_1^2 \frac{d}{dx_1} + \frac{d}{dx_2} - 2\Delta x_1) G = 0$$
 (5.35)

¹⁹This is due to the fact that the states $|x\rangle$ behave somewhat analogous to a position basis, thus taking the differential of them is ill-defined until one actually considers wave functions of the form $\phi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | \phi \rangle$. This is done in subsection 5.3.1.

which has the solution

$$G(x_1, x_2) = c(1 + x_1 x_2)^{2\Delta}$$
(5.36)

where c is an arbitrary constant. Setting c = 1 then results in equation (5.33).

Like in the conformal quantum mechanics setting, it is also possible to define a 3-point function

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) \coloneqq \langle x_1 | B(x_2) | x_2 \rangle \tag{5.37}$$

where B now satisfies

$$\begin{bmatrix} N^{-}, B(x) \end{bmatrix} = \frac{d}{dx} B(x) \begin{bmatrix} N^{0}, B(x) \end{bmatrix} = (-2x \frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta_{B}) B(x) \begin{bmatrix} N^{+}, B(x) \end{bmatrix} = (-x^{2} \frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta_{B}x) B(x)$$
 (5.38)

similar to equation (4.38) in the conformal quantum mechanics setting. One may wonder whether the commutation relations between N^- and N^+ should be swapped or not, since their actions on $\langle x |$ and $|x \rangle$ are different. However, swapping their commutation relations with B above results in inconsistent differential equations. Furthermore, in the dAFF model the commutation relations were also chosen in accordance with how the operators acted on $|x \rangle$, although there the difference was simply a complex conjugation [dede1976conformal]. Inserting these commutators as $\langle x_1 | [\cdot, B(x_2)] | x_3 \rangle$ again results in a set of differential equations. These can be solved and result in

$$F(x_1, x_2, x_3) \propto (1 + x_1 x_2)^{\Delta_B} (1 + x_2 x_3)^{\Delta_B} |x_3 - x_2|^{2\Delta - \Delta_B}$$
(5.39)

which has some interesting properties. First of all, like before it is not dependent on just distances between the three points which is somewhat expected. More surprisingly though, it actually does depend on the distance $|x_3 - x_2|$ and therefore is not a product of the 2-point correlators either. This is a direct result of the differential equations (5.38) that *B* satisfies and therefore one may wonder if it is possible to find differential equations for *B* that would result in a more conventional product of 2-point correlators. Unfortunately we were not able to find any such differential equations. If these are possible then an immediate question arises which choice of differential equations is more natural, and also what interpretation the different choices have. These questions will hopefully be answered in further research.

Now we will continue following the conformal quantum mechanics constructions and try to find a completeness relation, which would make it possible to calculate higher order correlators. As we will see, the shadow transform will play an even more important role than in the conformal quantum mechanics setting.

5.3 Shadow operator

To calculate higher order correlators it is useful to obtain a completeness relation analogous to the one obtained in 4.2.2. It turns out that in the hodge theory setting the connection with the shadow transform is much more clear than in the conformal quantum mechanics setting. For the readers convenience, we will first briefly recall the shadow operator formalism. In conformal field theories, the shadow operator $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$ associated to an operator \mathcal{O} with conformal dimension Δ is defined as [89, 90]

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^d x' \langle \mathcal{O}(x) \mathcal{O}(x') \rangle \big|_{\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}} \mathcal{O}(x')$$
(5.40)

where $\widetilde{\Delta}$ is the shadow dimension and $|_{\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}}$ denotes that the in the correlation function of \mathcal{O} , Δ is replaced with $\widetilde{\Delta}$. This shadow dimension is defined such that the action of the Casimir is invariant under the transformation $\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}$. For example, in conformal field theories the Casimir acts as $[C, \mathcal{O}(x)] = \Delta(\Delta - d)\mathcal{O}(x)$ on a conformal scalar with weight Δ thus the shadow dimension is given by $d - \Delta$. The usefulness from this shadow operator comes when defining the projection operator $P_{\mathcal{O}}$ which can be interpreted as the projection operator on the subspace spanned by $|\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle$, here the state $|\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle$ denotes the state associated to $\mathcal{O}(x)$ in the state-operator correspondence. The projection operator is defined as

$$P_{\mathcal{O}} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} d^d x' \, |\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle \langle \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)| \tag{5.41}$$

and satisfies the completeness relation

$$\sum_{\mathcal{O}} P_{\mathcal{O}} = 1 \tag{5.42}$$

where the sum is over conformal primaries [87].

Motivated by these definition we now propose to define the shadow operator

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx' \left\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\mathcal{O}(x') \right\rangle \Big|_{\Delta \to \widetilde{\Delta}} \mathcal{O}(x') = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx' \, \frac{e^{x'N^-}}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.43}$$

where \mathcal{O} is as defined in (5.30) and the correlator found in equation (5.33). It was also used that since the Casimir from equation (5.9) is invariant under $\Delta \to -(\Delta + 1)$ the shadow dimension is given by $\widetilde{\Delta} = -(\Delta + 1)$. Two things should be noted from this definition, first of all it may seem that the integral diverges due to the exponential $e^{x'N^-}$, however this is not the case since N^- is nilpotent and therefore all terms of order $(N^-)^{2\Delta+1}$ and higher annihilate. There is an actual divergence in the integral at $x' = -(x)^{-1}$ though, which will need some regularization. We will ignore this for now and return to it in section 5.4 where we will find a consistent method of regularizing this integral and also find an explicit expression for $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$. For now, we can use this definition of $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$ to define a projection operator P as

$$P \coloneqq \mathcal{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \; |\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle \langle \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)| \tag{5.44}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{O}(x)\rangle &\coloneqq \mathcal{O}(x)|\Delta, \Delta\rangle \\ |\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)\rangle &\coloneqq \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x)|\Delta, \Delta\rangle \end{aligned} \tag{5.45}$$

are analogues to states obtained from the state-operator correspondence and \mathcal{N} is a constant. Now to check that P satisfies a completeness relation, it is enough that

$$P_{n,m} \coloneqq \langle n, \Delta | P | m, \Delta \rangle = \delta_{n,m} \tag{5.46}$$

since the states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ form an orthonormal basis. Inserting the explicit expressions (5.43) and (5.44) then results in the integral

$$P_{n,m} = \mathcal{N}a_n \bar{a}_m \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dx' \; \frac{x^{\Delta - n} x'^{\Delta - m}}{(1 + xx')^{2(\Delta + 1)}} \tag{5.47}$$

where a_n and a_m are given in equation (5.27). Making the change of coordinates

$$\begin{array}{l} x \to u + v \\ x' \to u - v \end{array} \tag{5.48}$$

and performing a Wick rotation $v \to iv$ results in the integral²⁰

$$P_{n,m} = i \mathcal{N} a_n \bar{a}_m \int_{\mathbb{C}} dz d\bar{z} \frac{z^{\Delta - n} \bar{z}^{\Delta - m}}{(1 + |z|^2)^{2(\Delta + 1)}} = 4\pi i (\Delta + 1) \mathcal{N} \delta_{n,m}$$
(5.49)

with z = u + v and the explicit formula (5.27) for a_n and \bar{a}_m was inserted. Thus choosing

$$\mathcal{N} = \frac{1}{4\pi i (\Delta + 1)} \tag{5.50}$$

results in equation (5.46) as required. Thus in the finite dimensional representation the shadow operator formalism works similar to how it does for conformal field theories.

A natural question is now why in this finite dimensional representation the above procedure works while in the conformal quantum mechanics setting of the previous chapter some modifications were necessary. One possible reason seems to be that the shadow transform of an operator is originally defined only for principal series representations of the conformal group, and that both the representations conventionally used in conformal field theories as well as the finite dimensional representations are given by analytical continuations of the principal series [51, 85]. Conversely, the representation described in the previous chapter is a discrete series representation. In any case both completeness relations make it possible to calculate higher order correlation functions explicitly (or at least find expressions for them), although these will have to be performed in further research. Now, we will take a quick aside and see how this completeness relation makes it possible to define a wave function quantum mechanics.

5.3.1 An aside: wave function mechanics

Interestingly, it is possible to define an analogue to wave function quantum mechanics using the projection operator above. To do this, note that in ordinary quantum mechanics it is

²⁰This Wick rotation includes a Feynmann $i\epsilon$ prescription, regularizing the integral. An alternative derivation of this result will be presented in section 5.4.

possible to go from wave vectors in a Hilbert space to a wave function representation by using a position basis $|x\rangle$. This basis usually satisfies a completeness relation

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |x\rangle \langle x| = 1 \tag{5.51}$$

and therefore for states $|\phi\rangle$ and $|\psi\rangle$ in the Hilbert space this completeness relation can be inserted to obtain

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \langle \phi | x \rangle \langle x | \psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \, \overline{\phi(x)} \psi(x) \tag{5.52}$$

where $\phi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | \phi \rangle$ and $\psi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | \psi \rangle$. Thus one obtains a natural embedding between the original Hilbert space and the space of square integrable functions, where the objects of interests are now wave functions instead of vectors.

To apply this to the representation from this chapter, note that the projection operator P defined in equation (5.44) can be rewritten as

$$P = \mathcal{N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dx' \; \frac{|x\rangle \langle x'|}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.53}$$

and thus, for two general states $|\phi\rangle$ and $|\psi\rangle$

$$\langle \phi | \psi \rangle = \langle \phi | P | \psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dx' \ \frac{\overline{\phi(x)}\psi(x')}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}}$$
(5.54)

where again $\phi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | \phi \rangle$ and $\psi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | \psi \rangle$. This inner product is slightly different than the one in equation (5.52) since there is now a double integral involved, inner products of this type also appear when constructing the complementary representation [80] or in quantum field theory [85], however this difference will not turn out to be important for us. This wave function representation now gives a natural interpretation of the the β_n functions defined in (5.26), which now span the wave function Hilbert space. Furthermore the actions of N^0 and N^{\pm} on $\langle x |$ given in equation (5.34) now equates to a mapping of operators from the original representation to differential operators on the wave function representation. In that one can define differential operators on the wave functions as $n^{\alpha}\phi(x) \coloneqq \langle x | N^{\alpha} | \phi \rangle$ and use equation (5.34) to find an explicit expression. Finally the adjoints of the resulting differential operators

$$\frac{d}{dx}; \quad -2x\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta; \quad -x^2\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta x \tag{5.55}$$

with respect to the inner product

$$(\phi,\psi) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dx' \, \frac{\overline{\phi(x)}\psi(x')}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.56}$$

can now be calculated. Here $\phi(x)$ and $\psi(x)$ are elements of the wave function space. One can then easily check that

$$\left(\frac{d}{dx}\right)^{\dagger} = -x^2 \frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta x \tag{5.57}$$

$$\left(-2x\frac{d}{dx}+2\Delta\right)^{\dagger} = -2x\frac{d}{dx}+2\Delta \tag{5.58}$$

where the adjoint is now with respect to the inner product (\cdot, \cdot) defined in equation (5.56). This is of course due to the fact that in the original representation $(N^+)^{\dagger} = N^-$ and $(N^0)^{\dagger} = N^0$ and that the differential operators from (5.55) are exactly those obtained from N^+ , N^0 and N^- respectively.

We will now take a closer look at the shadow operator, and to perform some calculations we will define an integral transform related to the Mellin transform.

5.4 Integral transformations and analytical continuation in Mellin space

From the definition of the shadow operator given in equation (5.43) one may wonder if it is possible to find an explicit expression for $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}$. One natural in-between step is defining

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx' \; \frac{x^n}{n!} \frac{1}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.59}$$

such that

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}(x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x) (N^-)^n$$
(5.60)

which is convenient when performing actual calculations. One problem however is that the integral (5.59) diverges due to the singularity at xx' = -1 thus some regularization is necessary.²¹ With this in mind one might also notice that the expression for $P_{n,m}$ given in equation (5.47) involves a very similar integral of the form

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dx dx' \, \frac{x^n x'^m}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.61}$$

where here the integral was regularized by means of a Feynmann $i\epsilon$ prescription. Integrals of this kind will also appear when trying to calculate higher-order correlation functions by inserting P into

 $\langle \Delta, \Delta | \mathcal{O}^{\dagger}(x_1) A(x_2) B(x_3) \mathcal{O}(x_4) | \Delta, \Delta \rangle$ (5.62)

where A and B have local expansions of the form

$$A(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} A_n x^n \tag{5.63}$$

$$B(x) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} B_n x^n .$$
(5.64)

From these examples it is clear that a systematic approach to working with these integrals would be convenient. Therefore we introduce the integral transform

$$\{\mathcal{T}f\}(n) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ x^n f(x) \tag{5.65}$$

²¹The singularity at $x' \to \pm \infty$ is not a problem since $(N^-)^{2\Delta+1} = 0$ when acting within this representation, therefore the denominator always dominates in the integrand.

where we will usually be interested in the $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ case. With this we could write

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x) = \frac{1}{n!} \{ \mathcal{T}(1 + xx')^{-2(\Delta+1)} \}(n)$$
(5.66)

as well as

$$P_{n,m} \propto \{\mathcal{T}_x \mathcal{T}_{x'} (1 + xx')^{-2(\Delta+1)}\} (\Delta - n, \Delta - m)$$
 (5.67)

where in this notation \mathcal{T}_x denotes the \mathcal{T} transform with respect to x and some regularization scheme is implicit. To actually calculate the \mathcal{T} transform it is useful to note that

$$\{\mathcal{T}f\}(n) = \{\mathcal{M}f\}(n+1) + e^{i\pi n}\{\mathcal{M}f_{-}\}(n+1)$$
(5.68)

where $\{\mathcal{M}f\}$ is the Mellin transform defined as

$$\{\mathcal{M}f\}(s) \coloneqq \int_0^\infty dx \ x^{s-1}f(x) \tag{5.69}$$

and f_{-} is defined as

$$f_{-}(x) \coloneqq f(-x) . \tag{5.70}$$

This relation becomes useful since the Mellin transform is quite well-studied [94–96] and there are known results for analytical continuations of Mellin integrals [97]. Interestingly, the Mellin transform also appears when calculating AdS/CFT correlators [98, 99] although the context there is slightly different, we will discuss this more in subsection 5.4.3. Recently some work has also been done by Bianchi et al. [100] and the regularization procedures employed there and in reference [101] by Penedones et al. are quite reminiscent of the ones used here. Finally, the Mellin transform satisfies the following Mellin inversion formula

$$\phi(s) = \{\mathcal{M}f\}(s) \Leftrightarrow f(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c-i\infty}^{c+i\infty} ds \ x^{-s} \phi(s) =: \{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\phi\}(x)$$
(5.71)

where c is a real number such that $\phi(s)$ is analytic on a strip a < Re(s) = c < b and f and ϕ satisfy growth conditions such that both are well-defined [94, 95]. Note that the inverse Mellin transformation is independent of c because $\phi(s)$ is assumed to be analytic. Since the Mellin transform is unique this makes it possible to check possible analytical continuations by performing the inverse Mellin transform if possible.

In this section we will begin by studying this integral transform \mathcal{T} and calculate the transform of some important functions. Afterwards we will apply this knowledge to calculate $P_{n,m}$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x)$ and we will conclude by giving some interpretations of the integral transform.

5.4.1 The general procedure and a useful integral

From equations (5.66) and (5.67) on may notice that they involve transformations of the function

$$f(x) \coloneqq (1+x)^{-2(\Delta+1)}$$
(5.72)

and therefore a natural starting point is to calculate $\{\mathcal{T}f\}(n)$, which we will do in this subsection. This will also showcase some of the general techniques used when calculating the \mathcal{T} transform and the associated Mellin transforms. In order to do this we first split the integral into Mellin transforms as in equation (5.68), thus finding the Mellin transforms of fand $f_{-}(x) = f(-x)$ results in a formula for $\{\mathcal{T}f\}$. The Mellin transform of f can simply be obtained by evaluating the integral

$$\{\mathcal{M}f\}(s) = \int_0^\infty dx \; \frac{x^{s-1}}{(1+x)^{2(\Delta+1)}} = \frac{\Gamma(2\Delta+2-s)\Gamma(s)}{\Gamma(2\Delta+2)} \tag{5.73}$$

which is valid for a strip in the complex plane satisfying $0 < Re(s) < 2\Delta + 2$ and can be analytically continued to a meromorphic functions on the entire complex plane using the usual analytical continuation of the Gamma function. The Mellin transform of f_{-} however requires some more work due to the pole at x = -1. A trick one can use is to split the integral as

$$\{\mathcal{M}f_{-}\}(s) = \int_{0}^{1} dx \, \frac{x^{s-1}}{(1-x)^{2(\Delta+1)}} + \int_{1}^{\infty} dx \, \frac{x^{s-1}}{(1-x)^{2(\Delta+1)}} \tag{5.74}$$

and note that these integrals separately do have regions $s \in \mathbb{C}$ for which they are well-defined, even though these regions do not overlap. This is equivalent to defining the functions

$$u_1(x) \coloneqq \begin{cases} f_-(x) & \text{for } 0 \le x \le 1\\ 0 & \text{for } x > 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.75)

and

$$u_2(x) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } 0 \le x \le 1\\ f_-(x) & \text{for } x > 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.76)

and to calculate their Mellin transforms separately. Then analytically continue them to meromorphic functions on the entire complex plane and finally define the Mellin transform of f_{-} as

$$\{\mathcal{M}f_{-}\}(s) = \{\mathcal{M}u_{1}\}(s) + \{\mathcal{M}u_{2}\}(s)$$
(5.77)

which is now also a meromorphic function on the entire complex plane, even though the original integral converges for no value of s. These kind of techniques are outlined by Bleistein and Handelsman in reference [97] and allow the calculation of Mellin transforms for very large classes of functions.

The Mellin transforms of u_1 and u_2 can be calculated explicitly resulting in

$$\{\mathcal{M}u_1\}(s) = \frac{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(-2\Delta - 1)}{\Gamma(s - 2\Delta - 1)}$$
(5.78)

$$\{\mathcal{M}u_2\}(s) = \frac{\Gamma(-2\Delta - 1)\Gamma(2\Delta + 2 - s)}{\Gamma(1 - s)}$$
(5.79)

where it should be noted that since Δ is an integer, both are singular for non-integer s. However in the expressions (5.66) and (5.67) we are interested only in integer n and m, in this case it is possible to use the identity

$$\frac{\Gamma(n-z)}{\Gamma(-z)} = (-1)^n \frac{\Gamma(z+1)}{\Gamma(z+1-n)}$$
(5.80)

which is valid for integer n and can be derived by repeatedly applying $\Gamma(z+1) = z\Gamma(z)$ to the left hand side of this equation. Therefore for integer n the Mellin transforms of u_1 and u_2 are given by

$$\{\mathcal{M}u_1\}(n) = \{\mathcal{M}u_2\}(n) = (-1)^n \frac{\Gamma(s)\Gamma(2\Delta + 2 - s)}{\Gamma(2\Delta + 2)} .$$
(5.81)

With this it is possible to use equation (5.77) to find the Mellin transform of f_{-} , inserting this with the Mellin transform of f into equation (5.68) results in the \mathcal{T} transform of f which for integer n is given by

$$\{\mathcal{T}f\}(n) = \{\mathcal{T}(1+x)^{-2(\Delta+1)}\}(n) = -\frac{\Gamma(n+1)\Gamma(2\Delta+1-n)}{\Gamma(2\Delta+2)}$$
(5.82)

where it should be stressed that the original integral defining $\{\mathcal{T}f\}$ does not converge for any *n* and we are therefore including the analytical continuations above in the definition of $\{\mathcal{T}f\}$.

With this explicit formula and the knowledge of some of the general techniques, we are now ready to calculate the \mathcal{T} transform of the monomial x^n .

5.4.2 An important special case, the integral transform of a monomial

Another integral that merits some special attention is the \mathcal{T} transform of x^m . As an integral this would be written as

$$\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(m) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \ x^{n+m} \tag{5.83}$$

which clearly diverges for all n and m. Once again, it is possible to write this as a sum of Mellin transformations resulting in

$$\{\mathcal{T}x^m\}(n) = (1 + e^{i\pi(n+m)})\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}(m+1)$$
(5.84)

and thus the problem is reduced to finding $\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}$. Using the same trick as before it is possible to split the Mellin transform integral by defining

$$u_1(x) \coloneqq \begin{cases} x^n & \text{for } 0 \le x \le 1\\ 0 & \text{for } x > 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.85)

and

$$u_2(x) \coloneqq \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } 0 \le x \le 1\\ x^n & \text{for } x > 1 \end{cases}$$
(5.86)

such that $x^n = u_1(x) + u_2(x)$. The Mellin transform of u_1 and u_2 can easily be obtained by explicit calculation resulting in

$$\{\mathcal{M}u_1\}(s) = \frac{1}{n+s}$$
 (5.87)

valid for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > -n$ and

$$\{\mathcal{M}u_2\}(s) = \frac{-1}{n+s}$$
(5.88)

valid for $\operatorname{Re}(s) < -n$. If one would now naively try to define

$$\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}(s) = \{\mathcal{M}u_1\}(s) + \{\mathcal{M}u_2\}(s)$$
(5.89)

one can clearly see that this would result in zero. However since the Mellin transform is unique this gives some problems, since clearly the zero function would also have $\{\mathcal{M}0\}(s) = 0$. Furthermore applying the inverse Mellin transformation from equation (5.71) to 0 would also result in zero thus something is going wrong. The key observation to make is that

$$\{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}u_1\}(x) + \{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}u_2\}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c_1 - i\infty}^{c_1 + i\infty} ds \ \frac{x^{-s}}{n+s} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{c_2 - i\infty}^{c_2 + i\infty} ds \ \frac{x^{-s}}{n+s} \quad (5.90)$$

where $c_1 > -n$ and $c_2 < -n$. Since the integrands are meromorphic it is possible to choose c_1 and c_2 arbitrarily close to -n, this results in a closed contour around the pole at s = -n and thus by Cauchy's integral formula we find

$$\{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}u_1\}(x) + \{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}u_2\}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\gamma} \frac{x^{-s}}{s+n} = x^n$$
(5.91)

as one would expect. The solution thus is to define

$$\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}(s) = \{\mathcal{M}u_1\}(s+\epsilon) + \{\mathcal{M}u_2\}(s-\epsilon)$$
(5.92)

where the limit of $\epsilon \to 0$ is implicit and should be taken after the inverse Mellin transform.²² This definition then ensures that there is a strip $-n-\epsilon < \operatorname{Re}(s) < -n+\epsilon$ where the two Mellin transforms are both defined and it is possible to take the inverse Mellin transform directly, furthermore it splits the coincident pole at s = -n which was crucial in calculating the inverse Mellin transform above. Inserting the explicit formulas for u_1 and u_2 from equations results in

$$\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}(s) = \frac{1}{n+s+\epsilon} - \frac{1}{n+s-\epsilon} .$$
(5.93)

Two important observations are that firstly for $s \neq -n$ this still results in zero after the limit $\epsilon \to 0$ for $s \neq -n$, secondly this expression is actually a representation of $2\pi\delta(i(n+s))$ by the Sokhotsk-Plemelj theorem, with δ the Dirac delta distribution [103]. This relation could have also been derived by using the integral representation

$$\delta(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dk}{2\pi} e^{ikx}$$
(5.94)

and applying the change of coordinates $x \to k := ln(x)$ to

$$\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}(s) = \int_0^\infty dx \ x^{n+s-1} = \int_{-\infty}^\infty dy e^{n+s} = 2\pi\delta(i(n+s))$$
(5.95)

²²Interestingly, this definition is very similar to the definition of a hyperfunction and the explicit formula obtained is identical to the representation of $2\pi i \delta(i(n+s))$ as a hyperfunction. See for example [102] for an overview that also discusses the Mellin transform quite nicely.

Note that all formulas above are only well defined for $\operatorname{Re}(s) = -n$ which is in accordance with $n - \epsilon < \operatorname{Re}(s) < n + \epsilon$ as $\epsilon \to 0$. This is also why the conventional approach to obtain the Mellin transform of x^n gave problems, as the resulting object is not actually an analytic function but a distribution (or a hyperfunction, depending on the interpretation). To check that (5.93) is the correct formula, lets first consider the inverse Mellin transform given by

$$\{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}x^n i\}(x) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{-n-i\infty}^{-n+i\infty} ds \ x^{-s} \left[\frac{1}{n+s+\epsilon} - \frac{1}{n+s-\epsilon}\right]$$
(5.96)

$$=\frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{-n-\epsilon-i\infty}^{-n-\epsilon+i\infty} ds \ x^{-s}\frac{1}{n+s} - \frac{1}{2\pi i}\int_{-n+\epsilon-i\infty}^{-n+\epsilon+i\infty} ds \ x^{-s}\frac{1}{n+s} \ . \tag{5.97}$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$ and closing the contour results in

$$\{\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathcal{M}x^n\}(x) = x^n \tag{5.98}$$

as required.

For the above results for the Mellin transform of x^n it should be stressed that they only hold within the analytical continuations of the integrals, since clearly the integral representation of $\{\mathcal{M}x^n\}$ diverges. However, this result was also obtained in a similar way by Penedones et al. in reference [101] by a deformation of integration contours in the inverse Mellin transform. Furthermore this method was then applied by Bianchi et al. in reference [100] to calclate CFT₁ correlators.

With the Mellin transform of x^n obtained, the next step is to use this to find $\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}$. Inserting (5.93) into equation (5.84) results in

$$\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(m) = (1 + e^{i\pi(n+m)}) \left[\frac{1}{n+m+1+\epsilon} - \frac{1}{n+m+1-\epsilon}\right]$$
(5.99)

where again the $\epsilon \to 0$ limit is implicit and ensure that the above expression is equal to zero for $n \neq -m - 1$. In the limit of $n \to -m - 1$ however, we find that

$$\lim_{n \to -m-1} \{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(m) = 2\lim_{n \to -m-1} \frac{1 + e^{i\pi(n+m)}}{\epsilon}$$
(5.100)

where since both the numerator and denominator go to zero this is undefined. Taking the limit simultaneously however results in $\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(m) \to -2\pi i$ and would imply that

$$\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(m) = -2\pi i \delta_{n,-m-1} \tag{5.101}$$

where $\delta_{n,-m-1}$ is the Kronicker delta. As we will see, this answer is consistent with the results from section 5.3 so it does seem correct although unfortunately we were unable to find a rigorous justification for it. Therefore one should be somewhat cautious in applying this formula.

With equations (5.82) and (5.101), we are now ready to demonstrate their usefulness by performing some actual calculations.

5.4.3 Applying the transformation

Using the result it becomes quite easy to calculate $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x)$ and $P_{n,m}$, for example using a re-parametrization $x' \to x'/x$ it is possible to write

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{n}(x) = \frac{1}{n!} \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx' \, \frac{x^{n}}{(1+xx')^{2(\Delta+1)}} = \begin{cases} \operatorname{sign}(x) \frac{x^{-(n+1)}}{n!} \{\mathcal{T}(1+x)^{-2(\Delta+1)}\}(n) & \text{for } x \neq 0 \\ \frac{1}{n!} \{\mathcal{T}x^{n}\}(0) & \text{for } x = 0 \\ (5.102) \end{cases}$$

which can be solved immediately by inserting formula's (5.82) and (5.101). This results in

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(x) = -\operatorname{sign}(x)x^{-(n+1)}\frac{\Gamma(2\Delta+1-n)}{\Gamma(2\Delta+2)} \quad \text{for } x \neq 0$$
(5.103)

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_n(0) = \frac{-2\pi i}{n!} \delta_{n,-1} = 0 \tag{5.104}$$

where in the bottom equation it was used that $n \ge 0$. Similarly, note that rewriting equation (5.47) in terms of \mathcal{T} transformations results in

$$P_{n,m} = \mathcal{N}a_n \bar{a}_m \{ \mathcal{T}_x \mathcal{T}_{x'} (1 + xx')^{-2(\Delta+1)}$$
(5.105)

while from the definition of \mathcal{T} in equation (5.65) we see that for general g

$$\{\mathcal{T}_x\mathcal{T}_{x'}g(xy)\}(\Delta-n,\Delta-m) = \{\mathcal{T}g(x)\}(\Delta-n)\{\mathcal{T}x^n\}(-m-1)$$
(5.106)

which can be derived by performing a coordinate transformation $x \to xx'$ and $x' \to x'$. Combining these two results in

$$P_{n,m} = \mathcal{N}a_n \bar{a}_m \{ \mathcal{T}(1+x)^{-2(\Delta+1)} \} \{ \mathcal{T}x^n \} (-m-1)$$
(5.107)

which when inserting (5.82) and (5.101), as well as the equations (5.27) for a_n and (5.50) for \mathcal{N} gives

$$P_{n,m} = \delta_{n,m} \tag{5.108}$$

as required.

As we have seen above the \mathcal{T} transformation has made it possible to find an expression for \tilde{O} , as well as perform another proof of the completeness relation for P. It should also help in performing calculations for the n-point correlators, although these will have to be carried out in future research. The integral space is also interesting because it seems to provide a different connection between the continuous variable x and the discrete variable n, which can appear either in a state $|n, \Delta\rangle$ or as the argument of a transformed function $\{\mathcal{T}f\}(n)$. Partly this is because in the transformed space the differential operator $-2x\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta$

$$\{\mathcal{T}(-2x\frac{d}{dx} + 2\Delta)f\}(n) = 2(\Delta + n + 1)\{Tf\}(n)$$
(5.109)

in other words, in the transformed space the operator N^0 becomes diagonal. Since this is already clearly the case when acting on the states $|n, \Delta\rangle$ the spaces have a similar structure.

In this sense, there is some similarity to the Mellin transform for the dilaton in conformal field theories [94]. Interestingly there are some other similarities with the CFT Mellin amplitudes as well. In the CFT setting, the Mellin transform is often used to write correlation functions by applying the operator product expansion. Interestingly, \mathcal{O} when acting on $|\Delta, \Delta\rangle$ plays a similar role since it generates all descendants of $|\Delta, \Delta\rangle$ by applying $(N^-)^n$. In the CFT setting the Mellin amplitudes are very tightly constrained by properties of the operator product expansion thus it would be interesting to see if similar constraints could be derived for the transformed functions here.

6 Conclusion and outlook

In this thesis we have studied representations of the 1-dimensional conformal group and specifically considered a mapping from discrete bases to continuous ones. With the goal of obtaining a better understanding of the CFT_1 side of the AdS_2/CFT_1 duality. For this we constructed a conformal quantum mechanics model in chapter 4 originally due to dAFF [23]. Besides this we also introduced a similar finite dimensional representation in chapter 5 which has relevance in Hodge theory. For both of these theories an analogue to the shadow operator was introduced in order to obtain a completeness relation, which was used to obtain integral expressions for higher order correlation functions.

There is an interesting interplay between higher dimensional CFT's and this quantum mechanical model, where the latter has many properties similar to conformal field theories but is fundamentally different simply due to not being a field theory. This difference makes it interesting that various tools from the conformal bootstrap program, such as the shadow operator, find their use naturally in conformal quantum mechanics. One is lead to wonder how this connection might develop further. For example one could ask what the analogue of the operator product expansion would be. Where we already have a complete basis of states, since all the states are known in the quantum mechanical model. Curiously, the continuous states $|x\rangle$ naturally have some of the same structure as an operator product expansion. Where for both there is an insertion of a primary operator (or the ground state) and its descendants, obtained by repeatedly acting with the raising or lowering operator. Hopefully a better understanding of the connection between conformal quantum mechanics and conformal field theories would lead to a better understanding of the individual theories too.

Besides this an interesting interpretation of the conformal quantum mechanics model was introduced in section 4.3, where it was used that the discrete series has a natural representation on the Poincaré upper half plane. The conformal quantum mechanics model studied before then naturally appears as the boundary theory of this representation. This seems very far from an AdS/CFT type duality since the models on both sides are much too simplistic and therefore it seems that there is no room for the more interesting aspects of AdS/CFT. Both models are just quantum mechanical systems on different spaces and there seems to be no clear way to introduce gravitational effects, gauge theories or other aspects that appear when dealing with quantum field theories. There does seem to be a natural way to promote both to field theories by a second quantization type procedure (or a many particle quantum mechanical model on the CFT₁ side) which would be interesting to investigate further. Especially since the two models do seem to share some of the basic properties of the AdS/CFT duality, such as the relation between the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ symmetry operators in the bulk and the boundary, as well as that the wave functions in the bulk and the boundary seem to be related with the correct limits. However as mentioned, one should not take the analogy too far.

A different direction that can be explored is the connection with Hodge theory. Even though the language and concepts in Hodge theory seem very different at first sight, there are some interesting similarities. First of all there is a similar problem of bulk reconstruction in Hodge theory [31, 32]. Where there is a boundary quantum mechanics model that, along with some different information, seems to be enough to describe the near-boundary behaviour of bulk fields. There are also other similarities, the operator product expansion blocks in CFT's can be related to geodesics on AdS [104] which seems at least superficially similar to Hodge theory where one of the main objects of interest is given by periods in the moduli space. This similarity deepens somewhat when one notices that this so-called kinematic space can be realized as coadjoint orbits [105], while in the Hodge theory setting much importance is placed on the nilpotent orbits. Furthermore, the kinematic space naturally carries symplectic and Kähler structure, both of which play an important role in the Hodge theory setting. Hopefully applying the model constructed in this thesis could shed some lights on these similarities, by providing a better understanding of the boundary theory.

Finally it turns out that there are some relations between the solution of certain differential operators and the periods of algebraic connections [106, 107]. Here a limited mixed Hodge structure also naturally appears. The differential operators studied in this thesis are of the same type and interestingly, the so-called Bloch-Vlasenko gamma functions defined there show significant similarity to the shadow transformed operators defined for the Hodge theory setting in chapter 5. In fact, both can be written in terms of Mellin transforms with coefficients of the type $e^{i\pi ns}$.²³ This provides a connection between Hodge theory and differential operators, so one may wonder if that connection can be used to relate the representations built in this thesis directly to the Hodge theoretical setting. If this turns out to be possible it might provide an interesting new perspective there. Furthermore, if this can be generalized to the conformal quantum mechanics case it might even provide interesting insights into the AdS/CFT setting, providing a new language into which one can view the duality.

At the moment much of what is written above remains speculative. However we think that the models studied in this thesis might provide interesting new viewpoints into both AdS/CFT and Hodge theory. Where in the best case scenario, it would provide connections between holography, Hodge theory, differential equations and group representation theory, hopefully leading to a better understanding of all of these. For now though, only the future will tell how much of that is actually possible.

 $^{^{23}}$ See for example page 5 in reference [106].

References

- Gerard 't Hooft. "Dimensional reduction in quantum gravity". In: Conf. Proc. C 930308 (1993), pp. 284–296.
- [2] Jacob D Bekenstein. "Universal upper bound on the entropy-to-energy ratio for bounded systems". In: *Physical Review D* 23.2 (1981).
- [3] Juan Martin Maldacena. "The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity". In: Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998), pp. 231–252.
- [4] Andrew Strominger. "The dS / CFT correspondence". In: JHEP 10 (2001), p. 034.
- [5] Dionysios Anninos, Thomas Hartman, and Andrew Strominger. "Higher spin realization of the dS/CFT correspondence". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 34.1 (2016), p. 015009.
- [6] Vijay Balasubramanian, Jan de Boer, and Djordje Minic. "Notes on de Sitter space and holography". In: *Class. Quant. Grav.* 19 (2002). Ed. by B. de Wit and S. Vandoren, pp. 5655–5700.
- [7] Ahmed Almheiri et al. "The entropy of bulk quantum fields and the entanglement wedge of an evaporating black hole". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2019.12 (2019), pp. 1–47.
- [8] Geoffrey Penington. "Entanglement wedge reconstruction and the information paradox". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2020.9 (2020), pp. 1–84.
- [9] Joshua Erlich et al. "QCD and a holographic model of hadrons". In: *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 95 (2005), p. 261602.
- [10] RongGen Cai et al. "Introduction to holographic superconductor models". In: Science China Physics, Mechanics & Astronomy 58.6 (2015), pp. 1–46.
- [11] Andrew Strominger. "AdS2 quantum gravity and string theory". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 1999.01 (1999), p. 007.
- [12] Xinyu Dai et al. "Constraining Quasar Relativistic Reflection Regions and Spins with Microlensing". In: *The Astrophysical Journal* 879.1 (2019), p. 35.
- [13] Hari K Kunduri, James Lucietti, and Harvey S Reall. "Near-horizon symmetries of extremal black holes". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 24.16 (2007), p. 4169.
- [14] Pau Figueras et al. "Extremal vacuum black holes in higher dimensions". In: *Physical Review D* 78.4 (2008), p. 044042.
- [15] Pierre Deligne et al. Quantum fields and strings: a course for mathematicians. Vol. 1.
 2. American Mathematical Society Providence, 1999.
- [16] Harm Jan Boonstra, Bas Peeters, and Kostas Skenderis. "Brane intersections, anti-de Sitter space-times and dual superconformal theories". In: Nuclear Physics B 533.1-3 (1998), pp. 127–162.
- [17] Juan Maldacena, Jeremy Michelson, and Andrew Strominger. "Anti-de Sitter fragmentation". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 1999.02 (1999), p. 011.

- [18] Roman Jackiw. "Lower dimensional gravity". In: Nuclear Physics B 252 (1985), pp. 343– 356.
- [19] Claudio Teitelboim. "Gravitation and hamiltonian structure in two spacetime dimensions". In: *Physics Letters B* 126.1-2 (1983), pp. 41–45.
- [20] Alexei Kitaev and S Josephine Suh. "The soft mode in the Sachdev-Ye-Kitaev model and its gravity dual". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2018.5 (2018), pp. 1–68.
- [21] Claudio Chamon et al. "Conformal quantum mechanics as the CFT1 dual to AdS2". In: *Physics Letters B* 701.4 (2011), pp. 503–507.
- [22] Mariano Cadoni and Paolo Carta. "The AdS/CFT correspondence in two dimensions". In: arXiv preprint hep-th/0102064 (2001).
- [23] Vittorio de Alfaro, S Fubini, and G Furlan. "Conformal invariance in quantum mechanics". In: Il Nuovo Cimento A (1965-1970) 34.4 (1976), pp. 569–612.
- [24] Mariano Cadoni et al. "2D anti-de Sitter gravity as a conformally invariant mechanical system". In: *Physical Review D* 63.12 (2001), p. 125021.
- [25] Theodor Kaluza. "Zum unitätsproblem der physik". In: Sitzungsber. Preuss. Akad. Wiss. Berlin (Math. Phys.) 966.1803.08616 (1921).
- [26] Oskar Klein. "Quantentheorie und fünfdimensionale Relativitätstheorie". In: Zeitschrift für Physik 37.12 (1926), pp. 895–906.
- [27] Edward Witten. "Search for a realistic Kaluza-Klein theory". In: Nuclear Physics B 186.3 (1981), pp. 412–428.
- [28] Ralph Blumenhagen, Dieter Lüst, and Stefan Theisen. Basic concepts of string theory. Vol. 17. Springer, 2013.
- [29] Wilfried Schmid. "Variation of Hodge structure: the singularities of the period mapping". In: *Inventiones mathematicae* 22.3 (1973), pp. 211–319.
- [30] Eduardo Cattani, Aroldo Kaplan, and Wilfried Schmid. "Degeneration of Hodge structures". In: Annals of Mathematics 123.3 (1986), pp. 457–535.
- [31] Thomas W. Grimm. "Moduli Space Holography and the Finiteness of Flux Vacua". In: (Oct. 2020). arXiv: 2010.15838 [hep-th].
- [32] Thomas W. Grimm, Jeroen Monnee, and Damian Van De Heisteeg. "Bulk Reconstruction in Moduli Space Holography". In: (Mar. 2021). arXiv: 2103.12746 [hep-th].
- [33] Martin Ammon and Johanna Erdmenger. *Gauge/gravity duality: Foundations and applications*. Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- [34] Joseph Polchinski. "Introduction to gauge/gravity duality". In: String Theory And Its Applications: TASI 2010 From meV to the Planck Scale. World Scientific, 2012, pp. 3–45.
- [35] Edward Witten. "Anti de Sitter space and holography". In: *arXiv preprint hep*th/9802150 (1998).

- [36] Steven S Gubser, Igor R Klebanov, and Alexander M Polyakov. "Gauge theory correlators from non-critical string theory". In: *Physics Letters B* 428.1-2 (1998), pp. 105– 114.
- [37] Jan de Boer et al. "Introduction to the AdS/CFT correspondence". In: University of Amsterdam Institute for Theoretical Physics (ITFA) Technical Report (2003), pp. 03– 02.
- [38] ERIC D'HOKER and Daniel Z Freedman. "Supersymmetric gauge theories and the AdS/CFT correspondence". In: Strings, Branes and Extra Dimensions: TASI 2001. World Scientific, 2004, pp. 3–159.
- [39] Ofer Aharony et al. "Large N field theories, string theory and gravity". In: Physics Reports 323.3-4 (2000), pp. 183–386.
- [40] Jens Lyng Petersen. "Introduction to the Maldacena conjecture on AdS/CFT". In: International Journal of Modern Physics A 14.23 (1999), pp. 3597–3672.
- [41] Alfonso V Ramallo. "Introduction to the AdS/CFT correspondence". In: Lectures on Particle Physics, Astrophysics and Cosmology. Springer, 2015, pp. 411–474.
- [42] Idse Heemskerk et al. "Bulk and transhorizon measurements in AdS/CFT". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2012.10 (2012), p. 165.
- [43] Yu Nakayama and Hirosi Ooguri. "Bulk locality and boundary creating operators". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2015.10 (2015), pp. 1–8.
- [44] Daniel Harlow. "TASI Lectures on the Emergence of the Bulk in AdS/CFT". In: *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1802.01040 (2018).
- [45] Nirmalya Kajuri. "ST4 Lectures on Bulk Reconstruction". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.00587* (2020).
- [46] Philippe Francesco, Pierre Mathieu, and David Sénéchal. *Conformal field theory*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [47] Ralph Blumenhagen and Erik Plauschinn. Introduction to conformal field theory: with applications to string theory. Vol. 779. Springer Science & Business Media, 2009.
- [48] Gerhard Mack. "All unitary ray representations of the conformal group SU (2, 2) with positive energy". In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 55.1 (1977), pp. 1–28.
- [49] Vladimir K Dobrev et al. "Harmonic analysis on the n-dimensional Lorentz group and its application to conformal quantum field theory." In: (1977).
- [50] Gerhard Mack. "D-independent representation of Conformal Field Theories in D dimensions via transformation to auxiliary Dual Resonance Models. Scalar amplitudes". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:0907.2407 (2009).
- [51] Petr Kravchuk and David Simmons-Duffin. "Light-ray operators in conformal field theory". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2018.11 (2018), pp. 1–111.
- [52] Brian Hall. Lie groups, Lie algebras, and representations: an elementary introduction. Vol. 222. Springer, 2015.
- [53] Anthony W Knapp. *Lie groups beyond an introduction*. Vol. 140. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.

- [54] Anthony W Knapp. *Representation theory of semisimple groups*. Princeton university press, 2016.
- [55] R Keown. "Mitsuo Sugiura, Unitary representations and harmonic analysis, an introduction". In: Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 83.1 (1977), pp. 100– 103.
- [56] Julian Sonner. Topics in Gravity. 2020.
- [57] Kostas Skenderis. "Lecture notes on holographic renormalization". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 19.22 (2002), p. 5849.
- [58] Daniel Harlow and Douglas Stanford. "Operator Dictionaries and Wave Functions in AdS/CFT and dS/CFT". In: (Apr. 2011). arXiv: 1104.2621 [hep-th].
- [59] J Zaanen et al. "The AdS/CMT manual for plumbers and electricians". In: Universiteit Leiden, Leiden The Netherlands 15 (2012).
- [60] Sangmin Lee et al. "Three-Point Functions of Chiral Operators in D=4, $\{N\}=4$ SYM at Large N". In: *arXiv preprint hep-th/9806074* (1998).
- [61] ERIC D'HOKER et al. "Extremal correlators in the AdS/CFT correspondence". In: *The Many Faces Of The Superworld: Yuri Golfand Memorial Volume*. World Scientific, 2000, pp. 332–360.
- [62] C Imbimbo et al. "Diffeomorphisms and holographic anomalies". In: *Classical and Quantum Gravity* 17.5 (2000), p. 1129.
- [63] Sebastian de Haro, Kostas Skenderis, and Sergey N Solodukhin. "Holographic reconstruction of spacetime¶ and renormalization in the ads/cft correspondence". In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 217.3 (2001), pp. 595–622.
- [64] Ashoke Sen. "State operator correspondence and entanglement in AdS2/CFT1". In: Entropy 13.7 (2011), pp. 1305–1323.
- [65] Ahmed Almheiri and Joseph Polchinski. "Models of AdS 2 backreaction and holography". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2015.11 (2015), pp. 1–19.
- [66] the free encyclopedia. Original author unknown Wikipedia. Hyperbolic_tiling_ omnitruncated_ 3-7. png. [Online; accessed July 2, 2021]. 2007.
- [67] Gábor Sárosi. "AdS 2 holography and the SYK model". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:1711.08482 (2017).
- [68] Dmitrii A Trunin. "Pedagogical introduction to SYK model and 2D Dilaton Gravity". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:2002.12187 (2020).
- [69] Daniel Grumiller, Wolfgang Kummer, and DV Vassilevich. "Dilaton gravity in two dimensions". In: *Physics Reports* 369.4 (2002), pp. 327–430.
- [70] David Garfinkle, Gary T Horowitz, and Andrew Strominger. "Charged black holes in string theory". In: *Physical Review D* 43.10 (1991), p. 3140.
- [71] Curtis G Callan Jr et al. "Evanescent black holes". In: *Physical Review D* 45.4 (1992), R1005.

- [72] John Preskill et al. "Limitations on the statistical description of black holes". In: Modern Physics Letters A 6.26 (1991), pp. 2353–2361.
- [73] Christoph FE Holzhey and Frank Wilczek. "Black holes as elementary particles". In: Nuclear Physics B 380.3 (1992), pp. 447–477.
- [74] Kevin Goldstein et al. "Holography of charged dilaton black holes". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2010.8 (2010), p. 78.
- [75] Juan Maldacena, Douglas Stanford, and Zhenbin Yang. "Conformal symmetry and its breaking in two-dimensional nearly anti-de Sitter space". In: *Progress of Theoretical* and *Experimental Physics* 2016.12 (2016).
- Julius Engelsöy, Thomas G Mertens, and Herman Verlinde. "An investigation of AdS 2 backreaction and holography". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2016.7 (2016), pp. 1–30.
- [77] Juan Maldacena and Douglas Stanford. "Remarks on the sachdev-ye-kitaev model". In: *Physical Review D* 94.10 (2016), p. 106002.
- [78] Subir Sachdev. "Holographic metals and the fractionalized Fermi liquid". In: *Physical review letters* 105.15 (2010), p. 151602.
- [79] GW Gibbons and PK Townsend. "Black holes and Calogero models". In: *Physics Letters B* 454.3-4 (1999), pp. 187–192.
- [80] Valentine Bargmann. "Irreducible unitary representations of the Lorentz group". In: Annals of Mathematics (1947), pp. 568–640.
- [81] John M Lee. Smooth manifolds. Springer, 2013, pp. 151–204.
- [82] Brian C Hall. "Lie groups, Lie algebras, and representations". In: *Quantum Theory* for Mathematicians. Springer, 2013, pp. 333–366.
- [83] Serge Lang. Sl2 (r). Vol. 105. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [84] Tarek Anous, Jim Skulte, et al. "An invitation to the principal series". In: SciPost Physics 9.3 (2020), p. 028.
- [85] Elias M Stein. "Analytic continuation of group representations". In: Advances in Mathematics 4.2 (1970), pp. 172–207.
- [86] David Simmons-Duffin. "TASI lectures on the conformal bootstrap". In: *arXiv preprint* arXiv:1602.07982 (2016).
- [87] David Simmons-Duffin. "Projectors, shadows, and conformal blocks". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2014.4 (2014), p. 146.
- [88] David Poland, Slava Rychkov, and Alessandro Vichi. "The conformal bootstrap: Theory, numerical techniques, and applications". In: *Reviews of Modern Physics* 91.1 (2019), p. 015002.
- [89] S Ferrara and G Parisi. "Conformal covariant correlation functions". In: *Nuclear Physics B* 42 (1972), pp. 281–290.

- [90] S Ferrara et al. "The shadow operator formalism for conformal algebra. vacuum expectation values and operator products". In: Lettere al Nuovo Cimento (1971-1985) 4.4 (1972), pp. 115–120.
- [91] James M Drummond et al. "Magic identities for conformal four-point integrals". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2007.01 (2007), p. 064.
- [92] Thomas W. Grimm, Chongchuo Li, and Eran Palti. "Infinite Distance Networks in Field Space and Charge Orbits". In: *JHEP* 03 (2019), p. 016.
- [93] Thomas Grimm, Chongchuo Li, and Irene Valenzuela. "Asymptotic flux compactifications and the swampland". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2020.1910.09549 (2020), pp. 1–70.
- [94] Jacqueline Bertrand, Pierre Bertrand, and Jean-Philippe Ovarlez. *The mellin trans*form. 1995.
- [95] Yu A Brychkov, Oleg Igorevich Marichev, and Nikolay V Savischenko. *Handbook of Mellin transforms*. CRC Press, 2018.
- [96] Tewodros Amdeberhan et al. "Ramanujan's master theorem". In: *The Ramanujan Journal* 29.1-3 (2012), pp. 103–120.
- [97] Norman Bleistein and Richard A Handelsman. Asymptotic expansions of integrals. Ardent Media, 1975.
- [98] A Liam Fitzpatrick et al. "A natural language for AdS/CFT correlators". In: *Journal* of High Energy Physics 2011.11 (2011), p. 95.
- [99] Miguel F Paulos. "Towards Feynman rules for Mellin amplitudes in AdS/CFT". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2011.10 (2011), pp. 1–41.
- [100] Lorenzo Bianchi et al. "Mellin amplitudes for 1*d* CFT". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:2106.00689* (2021).
- [101] Joao Penedones, Joao A Silva, and Alexander Zhiboedov. "Nonperturbative Mellin amplitudes: existence, properties, applications". In: *Journal of High Energy Physics* 2020.8 (2020), pp. 1–115.
- [102] Urs Graf. Introduction to hyperfunctions and their integral transforms: an applied and computational approach. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [103] Ram P Kanwal. *Generalized functions: theory and applications*. Springer Science & Business Media, 2011.
- [104] Bartlomiej Czech et al. "A Stereoscopic Look into the Bulk". In: JHEP 07 (2016), p. 129.
- [105] Robert F Penna and Claire Zukowski. "Kinematic space and the orbit method". In: Journal of High Energy Physics 2019.7 (2019), pp. 1–25.
- [106] Spencer Bloch and Masha Vlasenko. "Gamma functions, monodromy and Frobenius constants". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.07501* (2019).
- [107] Matt Kerr. "Unipotent extensions and differential equations (after Bloch-Vlasenko)". In: *arXiv preprint arXiv:2008.03618* (2020).